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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG
KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance
is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on
GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or
in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the ‘Directors”) of Kwong Man
Kee Group Limited (the "Company’, together with its subsidiaries, the
“Group”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes
particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”)
for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The
Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best
of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is
accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or
deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would
make any statement herein or this report misleading.

This report will remain on “Latest Listed Company Information” page
of the website of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk for at least
7 days from the date of its posting and the Company’s website at
www.kmk.com.hk.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company, | am
pleased to present the annual report of the Company for the year ended
31 March 2023.

Review

As a well-established contractor in the car park flooring industry in
Hong Kong and Macau, we provide (i) flooring services, which involve
the application of proprietary floor coating products for the purpose
of providing a colorful, slip-resistance, hard wearing surface that is
resistant against water and petrochemicals; (ii) ancillary services, which
include specialised texture painting and waterproofing works; and
(iii) others - sales of flooring and waterproofing materials. Our target
segment ranges from mid to high end projects in the relevant markets.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the revenues from Hong Kong
and Macau markets were approximately HK$168.2 million (2022:
approximately HK$104.9 million) and approximately HK$2.4 million
(2022: approximately HK$5.5 million), respectively. The Directors
noted that the local property market has gradually recovered since the
outbreak of COVID-19, but the demand in the commercial and private
residential markets both in Hong Kong and Macau remain relatively
weak. Additionally, there are several other factors contributing to the
uncertain economic outlook in the sector including but not limited to the
tumultuous Sino-US relationship as well as rapid global inflation and
interest rate hikes resulting higher borrowing costs, which may all have
a negative impact on, amongst other things, willingness of property
developers to buy land for construction projects and thereby resulting
possible postponement and suspension of construction and renovation
projects.

In light of the above, the Directors expect our business environment in
Hong Kong and Macau would continue to be difficult and challenging
in the coming years. The Group will continue to closely monitor the
market conditions and take appropriate measures where necessary and
appropriate.

Looking Forward

In order to continue to generate promising returns to the shareholders
of the Company and to further diversify business risks, the Directors
are taking active approach to seek alternative business opportunities
in order to broaden its source of income. Meanwhile, the Group shall
continue to dedicate its effort to expanding its existing business and
increasing its competitiveness in the carpark flooring and waterproofing
sectors to strengthen its income stream.
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Appreciation

On behalf of the Group, | would like to express my gratitude and sincere
appreciation to all customers, suppliers, subcontractors, business
partners and professional parties for their support during these
challenging times. | also take this opportunity to thank our management
and employees for their contribution and commitment throughout the
year.

Kwong Man Kee Group Limited
Kwong Chi Man
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 23 June 2023
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENTIOR MANAGEMENT

EE RS K E

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. KWONG Chi Man (B&X), aged 67, is the chairman of the Group.
Mr. Kwong is mainly responsible for the leadership and management
of the Board and strategic planning of the Group. Mr. Kwong was
appointed as an executive Director on 30 May 2016. He is a director of
all subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Kwong has accumulated over 40 years of experience in the
construction industry. Mr. Kwong entered into the construction industry
as a sole proprietor with the business registration of Kwong Man
Kee Engineering in 1982. Mr. Kwong started the car park flooring
business in 2003 and in 2005 undertook projects from major property
developers, architects, main contractors and government bodies. In
2008, Mr. Kwong became a shareholder and director of Kwong Man
Kee Engineering Limited (“KMK”) and subsequently became the sole
shareholder of KMK in 2013. Mr. Kwong has accumulated over 15 years
of experience in the car park flooring industry.

Mr. Yip Kong Lok (¥7%84£), aged 47, is an executive Director and chief
executive officer of the Group and is principally responsible for the
business development, overall management and business operations
of the Group. Mr. Yip first joined the Group in November 2003 on a part
time basis to promote the Group’s business. In August 2015, Mr. Yip
took up the position of manager of KMK on a full time basis. Mr. Yip
has accumulated over 15 years of experience in the car park flooring
industry. Mr. Yip was appointed as an executive Director on 3 August
2018. He is a director of all subsidiaries of the Group except Victor Ease
Limited.

Mr. Yip graduated from The University of British Columbia in May
1997 with a bachelor’s degree in civil engineering with distinction and
subsequently obtained a master’s degree in engineering from the same
university in May 1998.

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED BB X st &£ B A I 2

B E & F

HITES
BEXkE 675k RAKEIE IB2AEE
ZENRERERUNRASENRBRE - WX

AR-_T-R"FRLA=ZTHEZERNTES -
RAXEEZHMBARNES -

BEENEZEXZRBIFLR -BELAER
—NWNZFRBEGEEFNREBER » TN
BXEIRAAEEEER BEER-TFT=

FHESEZWITHRES TR _TTRF&A
MARAEER - EEAM - BAER LB’

BHIEE  -RZTTN\F  BEERABXRZT
BERAR ((BXR)MBRERES  HERZ
—=FRABNGEE—RE - BEEREES

HWITHBITERERISFLR -

ERBRRL 475 AAKEHTESHRITEA
B IBRRAAKENEBER BREERXE
BEE - EEERN_TT=F+—- AUFRREL
AERMAREE  NERAEEEXE - R -F
—EEN\A ERAELERBXEHEBLE - &
RERNEEGHMITHERTERBAIGFER - &
EER_Z-N\FN\AZHEZERHTES "
TRASEZ2EHBEAR BaER AR
HES -

REAR-NANELFRAEENREBIRELTR
2 EREIATRBLEM (KERR) HERN
—“ANNERABRBRE-MARENTRELS

fif o

48
=
Il



8

PROFILE OF
ZE E RS

R EEE B E

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo (R# %), aged 48, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 24 September 2016. Ms. Yu has
accumulated experience in the civil and geotechnical engineering field
when she was employed from 1998 to 2005 by Greg Wong & Associates
Limited, a civil and structural engineering company in Hong Kong. In
2012, Ms. Yu commenced her legal career and she was admitted as a
solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong in April 2014.

Ms. Yu obtained a bachelor’s degree in civil engineering from the
University of British Columbia in May 1997 and a master’'s degree
in engineering (civil) from Cornell University (USA) in May 1998.
In November 2007, Ms. Yu further completed a master’'s degree in
engineering (industrial engineering and logistics management) from the
University of Hong Kong. In December 2010, Ms. Yu obtained her Juris
Doctor degree and subsequently the Postgraduate Certificate in Laws
(PCLL) in July 2011, both from the Chinese University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Law Pui Cheung (#M8), aged 67, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 24 September 2016. Mr. Law
has accumulated over 35 years of experience in the accountancy
profession. Mr. Law began his career with Ernst and Whinney, the
predecessor firm of Ernst & Young, an international accounting firm in
Hong Kong. Mr. Law joined Li, Tang, Chen & Co., a practising certified
public accountant firm in Hong Kong in 1989 and retired as a partner in
June 2016. Mr. Law had been a practising director of Yong Zheng CPA
Limited and is now the founder and chief executive officer of Marvin Law
& Co., a certified public accountant firm.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENTIOR MANAGEMENT

EE RS K E

Mr. Law is a fellow or member of the following professional organisations:

B E & F

BEERTIIEXBBMNEREGBHEE

Organisation Capacity Since (Year)
i B R (F )
The Chartered Association of Certified Accountants Fellow 1990
RERFARGHAMAE ERg8 —ANEF
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants Fellow 1985
VR VN BERg8 —N\RF
Macau Society of Certified Practising Accountants Member 1995
A bRl g8 — AR
Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute Fellow 2015
BEBFARESS BAREE —“T-hF
The Hong Kong Institute of Directors Fellow 2011
EEEEEE BERg8 —E——fF
The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales Fellow 2015
R LB gt Ag BERg8 “T-AhF

Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan (JEEEBT), aged 47, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 24 September 2016. Mr. Wat
has accumulated more than 10 years of experience in the civil and
geotechnical engineering field when he was employed from August
1998 to November 2009 by Mott MacDonald Hong Kong Limited, a
global management, engineering and development consultancy firm.
In November 2009, Mr. Wat became a director of Kin Wah Hong Paper
Limited, a company with the principal business of paper agency and
distributorship in Hong Kong, where he is responsible for the overall
administration, procurement, financial control and sales and marketing.

Mr. Wat has been a member of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers
(Civil Discipline) since March 2008.

Mr. Wat graduated from the University of British Columbia in May 1997
with a bachelor’s degree in civil engineering and subsequently obtained
a master’s degree of Engineering (Civil) from Cornell University (USA) in
May 1998.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Choi Wai Hung (342%#), aged 59, joined the Group as the financial
controller and company secretary in December 2017. He is responsible
for overall financial management and company secretarial matters of
the Group. He also supports the management on strategic and financial
planning and funding matters in relation to the business development of
the Group.

Mr. Choi has over 30 years of experience in financial management,
financial control, auditing, treasury, taxation as well as various projects
regarding mergers and acquisitions and initial public offerings. During
the course of his professional career, he had the opportunity to hold
various senior accounting and finance positions in company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, international corporation and
other well-established companies in various industries.

Mr. Choi obtained his diploma in accounting at Hong Kong Shue Yan
College (now known as Hong Kong Shue Yan University) in 1990 and
obtained his master’s degree in management majored in accounting
at Dongbei University of Finance and Economics, People’s Republic of
China in 2010. He has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants since 1999 and 2003, respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in car park flooring industry in Hong
Kong and Macau. We provide (i) flooring services, which involve
the application of proprietary floor coating products for the purpose
of providing a colorful, slip-resistance, hard wearing surface that is
resistant against water and petrochemicals; (ii) ancillary services, which
include specialised texture painting and waterproofing works; and
(iii) others - sales of flooring and waterproofing materials. Our target
segment ranges from mid to high end projects in the relevant markets.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the revenues from Hong Kong
and Macau markets were approximately HK$168.2 million (2022:
approximately HK$104.9 million) and approximately HK$2.4 million
(2022: approximately HK$5.5 million), respectively.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recorded total revenue
of approximately HK$170.6 million, or the increase by approximately
54.5% as compared with approximately HK$110.4 million for the year
ended 31 March 2022. As a result of the increase of revenue, the
Group’s net profit attributable to owners of the Company substantially
increased from approximately HK$7.5 million for the year ended 31
March 2022 to approximately HK$19.1 million for the year ended 31
March 2023.

In order to broaden its source of income, the Group has been
continually seeking various investment opportunities. During the year
ended 31 March 2023, the Group had subscribed to (i) a convertible
promissory note from Zephyr Group, Inc. (the “ZGI”) in the principal sum
of US$500,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$3.9 million) bearing
interest rate of 6% per annum with maturity date on 1 July 2023. ZGl
is incorporated in the United States of America and is a plant-based
biotech company focusing on health, wellness, and unique nutraceutical
products; and (ii) 300,000 Series Pre A-2 Preferred Shares of Gense
(BVI) Holding Company Limited (the “GHL”") for a consideration of
US$300,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$2.4 million). GHL is a
limited liability company incorporated under the laws of British Virgin
Islands. Its subsidiary, Gense Technologies Limited, a limited liability
company incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong, is principally
engaged in the provision of home based medical imaging modalities for
preventive screening and chronic disease monitoring in Hong Kong.

Furthermore, in March 2023, the Group had established a wholly owned
subsidiary for selling of waterproofing materials in Malaysia.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

E EE N W R 2 M

Revenue

The revenue, which is principally generated from the provision
of car park flooring services for construction projects, increased
by approximately HK$60.2 million or approximately 54.5% from
approximately HK$110.4 million for year ended 31 March 2022 to
approximately HK$170.6 million for year ended 31 March 2023. The
increase in revenue was mainly due to the increase in number of
projects with higher contract sum undertaken by the Group during the
year ended 31 March 2023.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group’s gross profit increased by approximately 50.7% from
approximately HK$35.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2022 to
approximately HK$53.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2023. The
gross profit margin of the Group decreased slightly from approximately
32.4% for the year ended 31 March 2022 to approximately 31.6% for
the same period ended 31 March 2023. The increase in gross profit
was mainly caused by the increase in revenue for year ended 31 March
2023.

Other income and other gains, net

Other income and other gains, net of the Group significantly increased
by approximately HK$1.9 million from approximately HK$418,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2022 to approximately HK$2.3 million for
the year ended 31 March 2023. For the year ended 31 March 2023, it
primarily consisted of the subsidies provided by (i) the Government of
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region under the 2022 Employment
Support Scheme; and (ii) the Government of Macau Special
Administrative Region under the financial support measures to business
operators. There were no such subsidies received for the year ended 31
March 2022.

Impairment loss on trade and retention receivables and contract
assets

The impairment loss on trade and retention receivables and contract
assets decreased from approximately HK$2.4 million for the year ended
31 March 2022 to approximately HK$748,000 for the same period
ended 31 March 2023.

Impairment loss is calculated under expected credit loss model with
reference to the expected credit loss rates, which were determined
based on the Group’s internal and historical credit loss data, the
days past due and the probability of default of customers, and also
taking into account the forward-looking information. The details of the
measurement are set out in Note 3.1(c) to the consolidated financial
statements in this report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses of the Group increased by
approximately HK$6.1 million from approximately HK$24.1 million for
the year ended 31 March 2022 to approximately HK$30.2 million for
the year ended 31 March 2023. The increase was mainly attributable
to (i) the increase in staff salary and number of senior and experienced
staff by approximately HK$3.6 million; and (ii) the increase in business
promotion and marketing expenses by approximately HK$1.5 million.
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of staff cost,
depreciation, professional fee and other general administrative
expenses.

Share of loss of an associate

Share of loss of an associate relates to the Group’s 40% equity interest
in an associate for the provision of a car-sharing platform in Hong
Kong. The Group’s share of loss of an associate for the year ended 31
March 2023 was approximately HK$1.0 million (2022: approximately
HK$188,000).

Income tax expense

Income tax expense for the Group was approximately HK$4.2 million for
the year ended 31 March 2023 as compared with income tax expense
of approximately HK$1.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2022. The
increase of income tax expense was mainly attributable to the increase
in profit before income tax from approximately HK$9.2 million for the
year ended 31 March 2022 to approximately HK$24.0 million for the
year ended 31 March 2023.

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company

As a result of the foregoing, the profit attributable to owners of the
Company increased from approximately HK$7.5 million for the year
ended 31 March 2022 to approximately HK$19.1 million for the year
ended 31 March 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

E EE N W R 2 M

OUTLOOK

The local property market has gradually recovered since the
outbreak of COVID-19, but the demand in the commercial and private
residential markets both in Hong Kong and Macau remain relatively
weak. Additionally, there are several other factors contributing to the
uncertain economic outlook in the sector including but not limited to the
tumultuous Sino-US relationship as well as rapid global inflation and
interest rate hikes resulting higher borrowing costs, which may all have
a negative impact on, amongst other things, willingness of property
developers to buy land for construction projects and thereby delaying
construction schedules for future property development. Consequently,
the Group’s financial performance is expected to be adversely affected
as our business largely depends on the sustained business from
property developers for new projects. Any postpone or suspension of
projects awarded will weaken the Group's revenue and growth. The
Directors are of the view that the business environment in Hong Kong
and Macau will continue to be difficult and challenging in the coming
years.

In order to continue to generate promising returns to the shareholders
of the Company and further diversify business risks, the Directors
are taking active approach to develop business in other Asia-Pacific
region’s market and seek alternative potential business or investment
opportunities to broaden its source of income. Meanwhile, the Group will
continue to closely monitor the market and quickly respond to changes
in market condition in order to maintain its share and competitiveness in
the car park flooring and waterproofing markets.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group maintained a healthy financial position during the year ended
31 March 2023. As at 31 March 2023, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of approximately HK$34.4 million (2022: approximately
HK$23.9 million). The Group’s current ratio was approximately 2.4 times
as at 31 March 2023 compared to approximately 2.2 times at 31 March
2022.

The total interest-bearing borrowings (including bank borrowings and
lease liabilities) of the Group as at 31 March 2023 were approximately
HK$14.0 million (2022: approximately HK$15.9 million). The borrowings
were secured by the Group’s certain assets with carrying amount
of approximately HK$35.2 million as at 31 March 2023 (2022:
approximately HK$36.5 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had total assets of approximately
HK$174.3 million (2022: approximately HK$149.8 million) which were
financed by total liabilities and total equity of approximately HK$55.6
million (2022: approximately HK$48.0 million) and approximately
HK$118.7 million (2022: approximately HK$101.8 million).

The Board considers that the Group has sufficient financial resources to
meet its funding requirements at all times.

GEARING RATIO
The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2023 was approximately
10.5% (2022: approximately 13.5%).

The gearing ratio is calculated based on the total interest-bearing
borrowings divided by the total capital of approximately HK$132.6
million as at 31 March 2023 (2022: approximately HK$117.8 million).
The total capital of the Group is calculated as total equity plus total
borrowings.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

There has been no change in the capital structure of the Group since
its shares listed on GEM on 13 October 2016. The share capital of the
Company only comprises of ordinary shares.

As at 31 March 2023, the Company’s issued share capital was
HK$6,000,000 and the number of its issued ordinary shares was
600,000,000 of HK$0.01 each.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, there was no significant investment
held by the Group nor any material acquisition or disposal of subsidiary,
associate and joint venture for the year ended 31 March 2023.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL
ASSETS

As at the date of this report, the Board does not have any plan for
material investments or additions of capital assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

E EE N W R 2 M

RISK OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE FLUCTUATIONS

The Group operates in Hong Kong and Macau and majority of its
business transactions are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and
Macau Pataca, and hence, the Group does not have any material
exposure to foreign exchange rate fluctuations for the year ended 31
March 2023. The Group has not entered any financial instrument for
hedging purpose.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and maintained a healthy liquidity position
throughout the reporting year. To manage liquidity risk, the Board
closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity
structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and commitments can meet its
funding requirements from time to time.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had 52 employees in total (2022: 45
employees). The employee costs of the Group (including directors’
emoluments and management, administrative and operational staff
costs) for the year ended 31 March 2023 were approximately HK$23.6
million (2022: approximately HK$19.6 million).

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
working experience and with reference to the prevailing market
conditions. On top of basic remuneration, discretionary bonus may
be granted to senior management and staff members by reference to
the Group’s performance as well as individual's performance. Other
staff benefits include medical benefits, mandatory provident fund and
sponsorship of training courses. Share options may also be granted to
eligible employees as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the
Group.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITY

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities. As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s committed lease
payments were recognised as lease liabilities of approximately HK$1.9
million (2022: approximately HK$845,000).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTRODUCTION

Pursuant to Rule 18.44(2) of the GEM Listing Rules, the Board is
pleased to present the corporate governance report of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2023.

The Company has made continued efforts to incorporate the key
elements of sound corporate governance in its management structures,
internal control and risk management system. The Company is
committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance,
the principles of which serve to uphold a high standard of ethics,
transparency, responsibility and integrity in all aspects of business, and
to ensure that affairs are conducted in accordance with applicable laws
and regulations.

The Board believes that good and effective corporate governance
practices are keys to obtaining and maintaining the trust of the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) and other
stakeholders, and essential for encouraging accountability and
transparency so as to sustain the success of the Group and to create
long-term value for the Shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as set out in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules, which includes
developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance, training and continuous professional
development of Directors, and reviewing the Company’s compliance

with the code provision in the CG Code and disclosures in this report.

The Company has complied with the principles and applicable code
provisions of the CG Code for the year ended 31 March 2023.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules
as the code of conduct for securities transactions by the Directors in
respect of the Shares (the “Code of Conduct”). Having made specific
enquiries to all Directors, each of them has confirmed that he/she has
fully complied with the required standard of dealings set out in the Code
of Conduct during the year ended 31 March 2023.

it ¥ E B

$ﬁd:

#=
BIEGEM T8I 18.44(2) 15 - EEGMAIE
ERRABE_T_=F=A=t—HBILFEN

ﬁé%%/ﬂ#&i °

RARTHS N BRE L EEAOBREZMA
HEBEH  ABELRARERHE - KA

BORBRKFHEEER  HRAERGER
BEBENER  ERNE BERSRAEHE

BEKE - BREBERERERTE -

EZEHE RUMAMNEXEARAZIRS
F#RADBRR (TRER]) REME D EEEN
R URRERERELAANTAEHER
ARLERARENRNER - YA ABRRAIE
REEBE-

SN
V=

?u*ﬁ

®
BEETGEMLEMRAME T HEEE
BI([xERTR ) MEMEXEREE
BRI MBEARANEERE ARR LS
%ﬁ‘i%ﬂ’]t ARFEEERR  ARERAR
AEST R EA ST RA T AR BRI RRA
BERE -

—E-ZFZA=+—HILFEE
BTFEEERTAN R REB AR

EENESFRS

RA T B RNGEM L #3 855.48 25 671K 1E R

EERRHETELFR IR TTA(RTT
Al)) - $2REEFELARENR  SEECR
REFRBE_Z-_=F=A=+—HILEFED

2EETRTTAMSEN VTR HEA -

KWONG MAN KEEGROUPLIMITED BB X it EB B E 2 7 |



18

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board assumes responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company, and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising
the Company’s affairs. The Board meets regularly for considering,
reviewing and/or approving matters relating to, among others, the
financial and operating performance, as well as, the overall strategies
and policies of the Company. Additional meetings are held when
significant events or important issues are required to be discussed and
resolved.

Responsibilities of the Directors
The Directors’ responsibilities include, inter alia:

e To attend regular Board meetings focusing on business strategy,
operational issues and financial performance;

e To review annual budgets for the Group;

e To monitor the quality, timeliness, relevance and reliability of
internal and external reporting;

e To consider and approve the consolidated financial statements in
quarterly, interim and annual reports, announcements and press

releases of quarterly, interim and annual results;

e To focus on matters affecting the Company’s overall strategic
policies, finances and interest of the Shareholders;

e  To consider dividend policy and dividend amount; and
e To review and monitor the corporate governance policies and
practices of the Group to ensure compliance with the legal and

regulatory requirements.

The Company has taken out director and officer liability insurance to
cover liabilities arising from legal action against the Directors.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Composition
The composition of the Board up to the date of this report is set out as
follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Kwong Chi Man (Chairman)
(re-elected on 26 August 2022)

Mr. Yip Kong Lok (Chief Executive Officer)
(re-elected on 26 August 2022)

Mr. Yip Wai Man (resigned on 27 July 2022)

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo (re-elected on 27 August 2021)
Mr. Law Pui Cheung (re-elected on 27 August 2021)

Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan (re-elected on 27 August 2021)
There is no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship among members of the Board.

All Directors have distinguished themselves in their field of expertise,
and have exhibited high standards of personal and professional ethics
and integrity. The profiles of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 7 to 10
of this report.

With the various experience of the executive Directors and the
independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”) and the nature of
the Group’s business, the Company recognises the benefits of having
a Board with well-balanced experience and qualification to maintain
a sustainable business development of the Group in long run. In
recognition of the Company’s commitment to a well-balanced Board,
the nomination committee of the Company is entrusted to review the
Company's director nomination policy adopted in accordance with the
CG Code and recruitment process to ensure the effectiveness of the
policy and that the Board would possess sufficient skills, diversity and
experience relevant to the Company’s business.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

In compliance with rule 5.05A, 5.05(1) and (2) of the GEM Listing Rules,
the Company has appointed three INEDs representing at least one-third
of the Board and at least one of whom has appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management expertise.
As such, there is a strong element in the Board to provide independent
judgment.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
from each of the INEDs pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The Company considers the INEDs to be independent as at the date of
this report.

TERMS OF APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
Each executive Director has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a fixed term of three years and will continue thereafter
until terminated by either party giving not less than three months’ written
notice to the other party.

The service agreements and/or letters of appointment of the Directors
are subject to termination in accordance with their respective terms.
They can be renewed in accordance with the articles of association of
the Company (“Articles”) and the applicable GEM Listing Rules.

As required under the Articles, all Directors are subject to election by
the Shareholders at the Company at the first general meeting after their
appointment. At every annual general meeting of the Company at least
one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by
rotation, provided that every Director (including those appointed for a
specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election
thereat.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE

An annual general meeting was held on 26 August 2022 during the year
ended 31 March 2023 with all Directors present throughout the meeting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

NUMBER OF BOARD MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE
Six Board meetings were respectively held on 23 June 2022,
4 July 2022, 5 August 2022, 26 August 2022, 7 November 2022 and
8 February 2023 during the year ended 31 March 2023. The individual
attendance record of the Board meetings is set out as follows:
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Number of Board Meetings
attended/eligible to attend

HE/ EERLE
Name of Directors EEnA EEEERNRH
Mr. Kwong Chi Man BEXEE 6/6
Mr. Yip Kong Lok s o 6/6
Mr. Yip Wai Man* EREEE 11
Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo FHEELL 6/6
Mr. Law Pui Cheung EHMERE 6/6
Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan [EBERT 2t & 6/6

* Mr. Yip Wai Man resigned on 27 July 2022

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is also responsible for the corporate governance functions
under code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. For the year ended 31
March 2023, the Board has reviewed and discussed the corporate
governance policies of the Group, the Group’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report. The Board
is satisfied with the implementation and effectiveness of the corporate
governance policies of the Group.

FUNCTIONS OF THE BOARD AND MANAGEMENT

The Board supervises the management of the business and affairs of
the Company and ensures that it is managed in the best interests of the
Shareholders as a whole while taking into account the interest of other
stakeholders. The Board is primarily responsible for formulating the
business strategy, reviewing and monitoring the business performance
of the Group, reviewing and approving the financial statements and
annual budgets as well as directing and supervising the management of
the Company. Execution of operational matters and the powers thereof
are delegated to the management by the Board with clear directions.
The Board is regularly provided with management report to give a
balanced and understandable assessment of the performance, position,
recent development and prospect of the Group in sufficient details.
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TRAINING OF DIRECTORS AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

To assist the Directors’ continuing professional development, the
Company recommends Directors to attend relevant seminars to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills. The Directors also participate
in continuous professional development programmes such as external
seminars and forums organised by qualified professionals, to develop
and refresh their knowledge as to the industry and skills in relation to
their contribution to the Board.

All the Directors understand the importance of continuous professional
development and are committed to participate any suitable training to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

The Company has maintained the training record in respect of each
Director. There are also arrangements in place for providing continuing
briefing and professional development to Directors by the Company
whenever necessary.

The induvial training records of professional development received by
the Directors for the year ended 31 March 2023 are summarised as
follows:

EEMRIIREXRER

RHHEEHEEERER  ARARBEFHRE
MM ENEERERRENMBRRE - &
EN2EHAEREFALEROIBTATER
WEERBEXURTE NEERBEREEN
TEABLRREE REZSIELER -

PREFRNHETRERNETN  YAHS
BEMABEIEEREBRENNBRR

BE ©
ARAFESESNIRIIE - RITRBLH

FARAEVLERAESREFENEOIRER
R

EENHE_T_=F=-A=1+—-RHLEFEER
BABEBROBITHEMANT -

Types of training (note)

Name of Directors BEEng B ()
Mr. Kwong Chi Man B & AE A B
Mr. Yip Kong Lok ERgti s A B
Mr. Yip Wai Man* 28 v B
Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo REBELL A B
Mr. Law Pui Cheung BMELE A B
Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan JEBERT o A& A B

* Mr. Yip Wai Man resigned on 27 July 2022
Note:
Types of training

A:  Attending training sessions, such as seminars, conferences, forums and
workshops

B:  Reading news alerts, newspapers, articles, journals, magazines and

publications relating to update on business operations, industry, cooperate
governance matters and other regulatory requirements/developments
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four Board committees, namely, the audit
committee, the remuneration committee, the nomination committee and
the legal compliance committee, for overseeing particular aspects of
the Company’s affairs. All Board committees have been established with
their respective written terms of reference. All the Board committees
should report to the Board on their decisions and works. The practices,
procedures and arrangements of conduct of committee meetings follow
in line with, so far as practicable, those of the Board meetings and their
respective terms of reference.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
perform their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses.

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
established on 24 September 2016 with its written terms of reference in
compliance with in compliance with Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules
and code provision D.3.3 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the
Audit Committee are to review and supervise the Company’s financial
reporting process, internal control and risk management system,
nominate and monitor external auditors and to provide advice and

comments to the Board on matters related to corporate governance.

The Audit Committee consists of three members, being Mr. Law Pui
Cheung, Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo and Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan. Mr. Law
Pui Cheung currently serves as the chairman of the Audit Committee.
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Four Audit Committee meetings were respectively held on 23 June
2022, 5 August 2022, 7 November 2022 and 8 February 2023 during
the year ended 31 March 2023. The individual attendance record of the
meetings of the Audit Committee is set out as follows:

ENEEeNHE-_E-_=E-A=+—HIE
EADIR-_E-__FA=-+=H =T
FNRRAB ZE--F+—-A+tAR-ZE=-=

FZANHEBITTRREH - BREZEQEEN

fERIAK B H RN T

Number of meetings of the
Audit Committee
attended/eligible to attend

ﬁﬁ/Aﬁﬁﬁﬁ
Name of Directors E=ng BEREEEEENIE
Mr. Law Pui Cheung EMERE 4/4
Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo REERT 4/4
Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan BT & 4/4
The Audit Committee has reviewed (i) the Group’s audited consolidated EBH#ZEeCEHM)AEEEE-_T-_=4=A1
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023; and (i) the =+—BIFFENSERGEAMBEERE  R()A
Group’s financing, internal control and risk management system. EEMNTE  APEERAREEHE -
Remuneration Committee FMZzEES
The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration ZARQRNHFHNEZEES ([HFMEES])N_ZT—X
Committee’) was established on 24 September 2016 with its written €18 =+ BRI - /\Eﬁﬂ‘i&$’é%ﬁl1k/\GEM

terms of reference in compliance with Rule 5.34 of the GEM Listing
Rules and code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code. The primary duties
of the Remuneration Committee are to make recommendations to
the board on the remuneration policy and structure of the Directors
and senior management of the Group, determine, with delegated
responsibilities from the Board, the remuneration packages of individual
Directors and senior management of the Company, as well as to review
and approve matters in relation to share schemes under Chapter 23 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members, being
Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan, Mr. Kwong Chi Man and Ms. Yu Wan Wah
Amparo. Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan currently serves as the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.
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One Remuneration Committee meeting was held on 8 February 2023 for
the year ended 31 March 2023. The individual attendance record of the
meetings of the Remuneration Committee is set out as follows:

it ¥ E B

H &

PHEBENRBE-T-_=F=A=1+—HIHF
ERAR_T-_=ZF_ANBBTT—REG#& - %
MEEEGANERNKELFETHEINMT -

Number of meetings of the
Remuneration Committee
attended/eligible to attend
HE/ BERLE

Name of Directors EEnE FMEESSRNRE
Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan JEEERT L4 1/1
Mr. Kwong Chi Man BEXEE 11
Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo RBELL 11

In relation to the Group’s remuneration policy, the Directors and
senior management of the Company receive compensation in the
form of director fees, salaries, benefits in kind and/or discretionary
bonuses with reference to those paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and the performance of the Group. The Remuneration
Committee regularly reviews and determines, with delegated
responsibilities from the Board, the remuneration and compensation
packages of individual Directors and senior management by reference
to, among other things, market level of remuneration and compensation
paid by comparable companies, the respective responsibilities of the
Directors and the performance of the Group.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and senior management
by band are set out in Notes 23 and 28 to the consolidated financial
statements in this report.

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) was established on 24 September 2016 with its written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 5.36A of the GEM Listing
Rules and code provision B.3.1 of the CG Code. The primary duties of
the Nomination Committee are to make recommendations to the Board
regarding candidates to fill vacancies on the Board and/or in senior
management of the Company.
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The Nomination Committee should consider a number of factors in
assessing, evaluating and selecting candidates for the directorships
based on the Group’s nomination policy. These factors include (i)
character and integrity; (i) qualifications and experience that are
relevant to the Company’s business and strategy; (iii) commitment to
devote sufficient time to discharge the duties as a member of the Board
and other directorship; (iv) diversity in all aspects in order to achieve
the diversity of the Board; (v) independence requirement with reference
to the independence guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules when evaluating the suitability of the candidates to be INEDs; and
(vi) such other factors which are appropriate to the Company’s business
and strategy.

The Nomination Committee consists of three members, being Mr. Kwong
Chi Man, Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo and Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan.
Mr. Kwong Chi Man currently serves as the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

One Nomination Committee meeting was held on 23 June 2022 during
the year ended 31 March 2023. The individual attendance record of the
meetings of the Nomination Committee is set out as follows:

REZBEERREARBENELARER - R
HERBRESHREARZEETER - %%
REBRE()mBE RHE + (I)EADEEH &R
MHEMERRER  (iI)EFERATHEBET
EXZgNBREMERERE  (VEHENSZT
£ NEREZENZTL: (VBLEHRTE -
AEREARTERETBLFRTESR -
FRGEM LT AR RI 5. 00{6 F &0 B L 1145 5] - &
(VERRARREHERENEMBHEE -

S R

REZEEH=-EKEEN  DHIRBEXE
A REELLIREBRFTEL - BEXELERR
REZEEIR-

Number of meetings of the
Nomination Committee
attended/eligible to attend

HE/ GERILRE

Name of Directors EEnE REZESSRNRE
Mr. Kwong Chi Man BE R AE 11
Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo FEBELL 11
Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan [ERERT S 1/1

Legal Compliance Committee

The legal compliance committee of the Company (the “Legal
Compliance Committee”) was established on 24 September 2016 with
its written terms of reference by reference to the code provisions of
the CG Code. The primary duties of the Legal Compliance Committee
are to assist the Board in overseeing the Group’s compliance with laws
and regulations relevant to its business operations and to review the
effectiveness of the Group’s regulatory compliance procedures and
system.
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The Legal Compliance Committee consists of three members, being
Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo, Mr. Law Pui Cheung and Mr. Wat Danny Hiu
Yan. Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo currently serves as the chairlady of the
Legal Compliance Committee.

One Legal Compliance Committee meeting was held on 8 February
2023 during the year ended 31 March 2023. The individual attendance
record of the meeting of the Legal Compliance Committee is set out as

it ¥ E B

H &

ERARZBER-ANEEN  DHAREE
Tt BHEREREBRITLLE - REELLR
RERARZBEENIR -

FEAREEeNBE_E-_=F=A=+—H
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ZoARABRREeeRNARKE HEREH

follows: TR -

Number of meetings of the
Legal Compliance Committee
attended/eligible to attend
HE/ BERLE
Name of Directors EENA FREREEEETRENRE
Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo RBELT 171
Mr. Law Pui Cheung EHERE 1/1
Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan JERERT S0 11

DIVERSITY OF THE BOARD EEEMES L

In order to ensure the balanced composition and effectiveness of the
Board, the Company has accordingly adopted a Board diversity policy
(the “Board Diversity Policy”), which sets out the approach to achieve
diversity on the Board. The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity
through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skill, knowledge and length of service. The
Board appointments will be based on the performance and competence
of the candidates, and the merit and contribution to be brought to the
Board by the selected candidates.

The Board will review such objectives from time to time to ensure their
appropriateness and ascertain the progress made towards achieving
those objectives. The Nomination Committee will review the Board
Diversity Policy from time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness.
The existing Board members are coming from a variety of business
and professional background, the Company considers that the Board
possesses a balance of skills, experience, expertise and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business. Recognising the value and importance of gender diversity,
one female director has been appointed to the Board since as early as
2016 and thereby maintaining female representation at management
level.
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The Group strives to integrate diversity into the workforce level. It has
human resources policy in place which aims to offer equal opportunity
to employees of all gender, age, nationality as well as other aspects of
diversity. The Group has approximately 17% female in the workforce
for the year ended 31 March 2023, but does not have gender diversity
targets as employment is based solely on merits. Due to the generally
larger pool of male candidates in the engineering industry, the Group
expects that achieving gender diversity across the workforce would
continue to be challenging.

The Nomination Committee will report annually on the Board’s
composition under diversified perspectives in the Corporate
Governance Report, and monitor the implementation of the diversity
policy to ensure its effectiveness and compliance with the CG Code.
The Nomination Committee will consider any revisions that may be
required and propose recommendation to the Board for consideration
and approval.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK ASSESSMENT

The Board is responsible for the Group’s internal control and has
conducted a review of the effectiveness of the internal control of
the Group, including financial, operational and compliance controls
and risk management functions. No material inadequacy of internal
controls has been revealed in terms of risk management in the Group'’s
decision-making process.

A staff in the finance department was assigned to perform the internal
audit functions as part of her job and she reports the audit’s findings
to the Audit Committee. She mainly reviews and tests the control of the
Group’s major operational, financial, compliance and risk management
based on the Group’s policies as well as considers report prepared by
external risk management advisor engaged by the Group which aims to
independently review the Group’s exposure towards various sources of
risks with proposed internal control solutions and mitigation plans. She
communicates the findings, control deficiencies and remedial actions
with the management and Audit Committee for improvement of the
Group’s internal control system.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group has reviewed
(i) procedures of financial reporting and disclosure; (i) policy and
procedures of procurement and accounts payable cycle; (iii) management
(iv) implementation of
information technology measures; and (v) cash and treasury management.

on human resource and payroll processes;

The internal audit staff reported that the Group consistently complied
with relevant policies and procedures. Suggestions were made to the
Audit Committee and the management has implemented certain follow-up
measures based on the internal audit findings.
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The Group has adopted whistleblowing policy to encourage employees
of the Group and those who deal with the Group to report and disclose
allegations of suspected misconduct and improper activities within the
Group to ensure good corporate governance and high standards on
business conduct and ethics. The policy is administered by the Audit
Committee which ensures that appropriate arrangements such as
proper investigation and reporting processes are in place for incidents
of misconducts and improprieties.

The Group has also adopted anti-corruption policy to ensure
zero-tolerance against all forms of corruption and bribery. The said
policy outlines proper business ethics, appropriate disclosures
requirements as well as investigation and reporting procedures which
are expected to be followed by all directors, employees and secondees
of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

All Directors acknowledge their responsibilities to prepare the Group'’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023
to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and
of the results and cash flows for that year. The Directors continue
to adopt the going concern approach in preparing the consolidated
financial statements and are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The responsibilities of the external auditors about their financial
reporting are set out in the independent auditor’s report attached to
the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2023 in this report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the remuneration paid or payable
to PricewaterhouseCoopers (as the auditors of the Company) and its
affiliate companies in respect of audit and non-audit services were
HK$1,300,000 and HK$61,950 respectively.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Group has established its dividend policy in compliance with code
provision F.1.1 of the CG Code, which aims to provide a transparency
of the mechanism used for determination of the dividend amount and
payment as well as to notify Shareholders and other persons concerned
of the dividend policy of the Group. It broadly specifies the external and
internal factors, including financial parameters, that shall be considered
while declaring dividend and the circumstances under which the
Shareholders of the Group may or may not expect dividend and how the
retained earnings shall be utilized.

The Board will review and monitor the implementation of the Group’s
dividend policy from time to time.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Choi Wai Hung (“Mr. Choi”), an employee of the Company, was
appointed by the Board as the secretary of the Company on 15
December 2017. The biographical details of Mr. Choi are set out under
the section headed “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” in this
report. Mr. Choi is principally responsible for supervision of the Group’s
financial reporting, financial planning, treasury, financial control and
company secretarial matters.

Mr. Choi had confirmed that he had taken no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training in accordance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM
Listing Rules during the year ended 31 March 2023.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting on Requisition by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Articles, the Board may, whenever it
thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”"). EGMs
shall also be convened on the requisition of two or more Shareholders
holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at
general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board
or the company secretary of the Company for the purpose of requiring
an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition, and such meeting shall be held within 3
months after the deposit of such requisition. If, within 21 days of such
deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting within a
further 21 days, the requisitionists themselves may convene a meeting
in accordance with the Articles and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisition(s) by the Company.
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Right to put enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may
send their written enquiries or requests in respect of their rights to the
Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

Procedure for Shareholders to put forward proposals at
shareholders’ meetings

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to move new resolutions
at the general meetings of the Company under the Companies Law
(Revised) of Cayman lIslands. However, pursuant to the Articles,
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may by means of

requisition convene an EGM following the procedures set out above.

RELATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Group uses several formal channels to ensure fair disclosure
and comprehensive and transparent reporting of its performance and
activities.

The Company’s annual, interim and quarterly reports and circulars are
printed and sent to all Shareholders. Announcements, reports, circulars,
publications and press releases of the Company are published on
the Company’s website at www.kmk.com.hk. The Company’s website
disseminates corporate information and other relevant financial and
non-financial information electronically on a timely basis.

The Company acknowledges that general meetings are good
communication channel with Shareholders. The Directors and the
members of the Board committees are encouraged to attend and
answer questions raised by Shareholders at the general meetings.

The Company has adopted its shareholder communication policy in
order to enable Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed
manner, and also to allow Shareholders and the investors to strengthen
the communication with the Company. The Company is committed to
promoting and maintaining effective communication with Shareholders
and other stakeholders. The Board is committed to ensuring that the
Shareholders are provided with ready, equal and timely access to
balanced and understandable information about the Company. The
Group will continuously ensure the effectiveness and timeliness of
information disclosure to Shareholders and investors.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Shareholders approved the adoption of the amended and restated
articles of association of the Company at the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 26 August 2022 and there has been no further
significant change in the Company’s constitutional documents for the
year ended 31 March 2023.
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The Board hereby present the Directors’ report and the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is the investment holding company of the Group. The
Group is principally engaged in car park flooring industry in Hong
Kong and Macau. We provide (i) flooring services, which involve
the application of proprietary floor coating products for the purpose
of providing a colorful, slip-resistance, hard wearing surface that is
resistant against water and petrochemicals; (ii) ancillary services, which
include specialised texture painting and waterproofing works; and (iii)
others - sales of flooring and waterproofing materials.

For further particulars of the subsidiaries of the Group, details of which
are set out in Note 31(a) to the consolidated financial statements in this
report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the development, performance or position of the Group’s business,
details are set out in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” on
pages 5 to 6 and the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 11 to 16 of this report.

For the principal financial risks and uncertainties facing the Company,
details are set out in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements in
this report.

(A) Environmental policies and performance

The Board is aware that addressing environmental concerns is an
important issue for contributing to the continuous development of
society (along with the business activities of the Company).

The Group’s operation is not subject to any environmental
requirements in Hong Kong, except the Dangerous Goods
Ordinance (Chapter 295 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
‘Dangerous Goods Ordinance”), and that some of the works
conducted by the Group are subject to environmental compliance
examination under The Hong Kong Green Building Council’'s
“BEAM Plus” scheme. The Group has established effective
environmental management system in conformity with the
international standard requirements, for the provision of design,
construction, installation and maintenance services to the
customers.

| ANNUAL REPORT 2023 3k

EFQEURERE_T_=F=A=1+—HLt
FENEZEREREAMBRE -

ETBEY
ARBRAEENKREERAR - ARBETEH
FRBRBRAFESHIFHRITE - RIAEH
(PR  PRE2XRSNWITRREEE
m ARHEVER  WERARARKET S
ARt IERBUEFUEOMERE  (HEER
B BRERLCLIZRRERIIKTE : Ri)HE
AR — 0 & I AR R Bh kAT o

BRASEMBRRMNE-SFHE  FHARK
HEFA M B HRRME3() °

EBES
BRAKERBORR - REIMN - FEER
AHEFRSECREIFHRE | —HRFIIEI6R
[EEERwmEAMN]—& -

BRAAREENERHHERLTHABRRER -
ARERNABREREMBRAMES -

REBRRREZR
EFEeRAREREMERRELERE
BR(ARARREB RS MERZE -

(A)

BBl (FBZEPIFE295F) ([ fakm
RGN AEBZBEATHBEMAR
RAEEMR > MASEETNE Y TRE
BB EREEEZES([BEAM Plus] &t &
MREERRSE -AEBEEREAREE
MERIAMNREEERE  UREF
RERG BT ZRRRERS -



(B)

(€)

An environmental policy and manual of procedures have been
effective upon listing of the shares of the Company on GEM, which
demonstrate the Group’s commitment to environmental protection.
All staff, subcontractors and suppliers are required to diligently
implement the policy and the manual, which will be reviewed
regularly in light of experience, feedback from staff, business
development, current regulations and legislation.

Compliance with laws and regulations

Apart from the licensing requirement under the Dangerous Goods
Ordinance, the Group is not subject to any requirement to obtain
any particular approval or permit for carrying out its business in
Hong Kong. The Dangerous Goods Ordinance controls the usage,
storage, manufacturing and conveyance of the dangerous goods
and sets out the relevant licensing requirements in relation to these
activities.

The Group's operations are mainly carried out by its subsidiaries in
Hong Kong and Macau with the Company itself incorporated in the
Cayman Islands.

To the best knowledge and belief of the Directors, the Group’s
operations in Hong Kong and Macau have complied with the
applicable laws and regulations in the above jurisdictions in all
material respects during the year ended 31 March 2023, and up to
the date of this report.

Key relationships with employees, customers, suppliers and
subcontractors

The Directors are of the view that the Company has maintained
good relationship with its employees, customers, suppliers and
subcontractors. During the year ended 31 March 2023, there
was no material or significant dispute between the Group and its
employees, customers, suppliers and subcontractors.

(B)
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 are
presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on
page 57 of this report.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, a final dividend of HKO0.5 cent
per share of the Company (the “Share(s)”) was declared to the
shareholders of the Company.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK1 cent
per share for the year ended 31 March 2023, subject to the approval
of the Shareholders of the forthcoming annual general meeting on 18
August 2023 (the “AGM”).

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Company will hold the AGM on 18 August 2023. Notice of the AGM
will be published and dispatched to the Shareholders in accordance
with the articles of association of the Company and the GEM Listing
Rules in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from 15 August
2023 to 18 August 2023, both dates inclusive, during which period no
transfer of Shares will be effected. In order to be eligible to attend and
vote at the AGM, unregistered holders of shares of the Company will
ensure that all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar
and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited,
at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 pm on 14 August 2023.

For determining the entitlement to the proposed final dividend, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from 29 August
2023 to 1 September 2023, both dates inclusive, during which period no
transfer of Shares will be registered. Only Shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on 1 September
2023 are entitled to the proposed final dividend payable on or about
3 October 2023. In order to qualify for the entitlement to the proposed
final dividend, unregistered holders of shares of the Company will
ensure that all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar
and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited,
at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 pm on 28 August 2023.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the years ended 31 March 2019, 2020, 2021, 2022 and 2023 are set
out on page 140 of this report. Such summary does not form part of the
consolidated financial statements in this report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions entered into by the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2023 are set out in Note 30 to
the consolidated financial statements in this report. These transactions
did not constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions which were required to comply with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules
during the financial year.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 March 2023 are set out in Note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements in this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
the Company or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to its existing
Shareholders.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) on 24 September 2016 (the “Adoption Date”). The
terms of the Share Option Scheme are in accordance with the provisions
of Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules. The following is a summary of
the principal terms and conditions of the Share Option Scheme.

(i) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain
the best available personnel, to provide additional incentive
to employees (full-time and part-time), directors, consultants,
advisers, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers,
business partners and services providers of the Group and to
promote the success of the business of the Group.
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Who may join and basis of eligibility

The Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such terms
as it may think fit, grant any employee (full-time or part-time),
director, consultant or adviser of the Group, or any substantial
shareholder of the Group, or any distributor, contractor, supplier,
agent, customer, business partner or service provider of the
Group, options to subscribe at a price calculated in accordance
with paragraph (iii) below for such number of Shares as it may
determine in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme. The basis of eligibility of any participant to the grant of
any option shall be determined by the Board (or as the case may
be, the INEDs) from time to time on the basis of his contribution or
potential contribution to the development and growth of the Group.

Price of Shares

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be a price
solely determined by the Board and notified to a participant and
shall be at least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the
date of grant of the option, which must be a business day; (ii) the
average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and (iii) the
nominal value of a Share on the date of grant of the option.

Grant of options and acceptance of offers

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven
days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made. The
amount payable by the grantee of an option to the Company on
acceptance of the offer for the grant of an option is HK$1.00.

Maximum number of Shares

1. subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (3) below, the maximum
number of Shares issuable upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company as from the Adoption Date
(excluding, for this purpose, Shares issuable upon exercise
of options which have been granted but which have lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme
or any other share option schemes of the Company) must
not in aggregate exceed 10% of all the Shares in issue.
Therefore, the Company may grant options in respect of up to
60,000,000 Shares (or such numbers of Shares as shall result
from a sub-division or a consolidation of such 60,000,000
Shares from time to time) to the participants under the Share
Option Scheme.
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The 10% limit as mentioned above may be refreshed at
any time by obtaining approval of the Shareholders in
general meeting provided that the total number of Shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company must not exceed
10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of approval of the
refreshed limit. Options previously granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company (including those outstanding, cancelled or lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme
or any other share option schemes of the Company) will not
be counted for the purpose of calculating the refreshed 10%
limit. A circular must be sent to the Shareholders containing
the information as required under the GEM Listing Rules in
this regard.

The Company may seek separate approval of the
Shareholders in general meeting for granting options beyond
the 10% limit provided the options in excess of the 10% limit
are granted only to grantees specifically identified by the
Company before such approval is sought. In such event, the
Company must send a circular to the Shareholders containing
a generic description of such grantees, the number and terms
of such options to be granted and the purpose of granting
options to them with an explanation as to how the terms of
the options will serve such purpose, such other information
required under the GEM Listing Rules.

The aggregate number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company must not exceed 30%
of the Shares in issue from time to time. No options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme or any other share
option schemes of the Company if this will result in such 30%
limit being exceeded.
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(vi) Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of options granted to any participant (including both exercised
and outstanding options) under the Share Option Scheme, in any
12-month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the
Shares in issue. Any further grant of options in excess of such limit
must be separately approved by Shareholders in general meeting
with such grantee and his close associates (or his associates if
the grantee is a connected person) abstaining from voting. In
such event, the Company must send a circular to the Shareholders
containing the identity of the grantee, the number and terms of
the options to be granted (and options previously granted to such
grantee), and all other information required under the GEM Listing
Rules. The number and terms (including the subscription price) of
the options to be granted must be fixed before the approval of the
Shareholders and the date of the Board meeting proposing such
further grant should be taken as the date of grant for the purpose
of calculating the subscription price.

(vii) Time of exercise of option
An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board
may determine which shall not exceed ten years from the date of
grant subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.

(viii) Period of the Share Option Scheme
The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten
years commencing on the date on the Adoption Date and shall
expire at the close of business on the business day immediately
preceding the tenth anniversary thereof unless terminated earlier
by the Shareholders in general meeting.

No share option has been granted or exercised under the Share Option

Scheme during the year ended 31 March 2023. No share option was
outstanding as at 31 March 2023.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE SHARES
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Shares during the year ended 31 March 2023.

DEBENTURE
No debenture was issued by the Company during the year ended 31
March 2023.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as the share option scheme as disclosed in the paragraph headed
“Share Option Scheme” in this Directors’ report, no equity-linked
agreement was entered into by the Company or subsisted during the
year ended 31 March 2023 which (a) will or may result in the Company
issuing shares; or (b) requires the Company to enter into an agreement
that will or may result in the Company issuing shares were entered into
by the Company.

DONATION
The charitable donation made by the Group for the year ended 31
March 2023 amounted to HK$65,000.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, each Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or
liabilities incurred or sustained by him/her as a Director in defending
any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given in
his/her favour, or in which he/she is acquitted.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of
claims and legal actions against the Directors and its officers.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

(A)

Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short positions
in the Shares, underlying Shares and debenture of the
Company or any associated corporation

As at 31 March 2023, the interests or short positions of the
Directors or chief executive officer of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of the
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities & Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (the “SFO”)) which were notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including any interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or
which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to the Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating
to securities transactions by the Directors, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Long Position in the Shares

Name of Director Nature of interest

B E

(A) EERZSTHASRAA T E M
FENRD - HEROREEZFEEN
FE & )}(/AF‘

R-ZBE-ZF=ZF=+—-0 ARAEE
&= THRABRAR R SR B EE
(EERBBEDESNEZL R PEED
([BHRIE KRG ]) EXVER) BB (D - HERS
&m&%%%¢'%ﬁ%mf%#&m§%
FIEXVEBETRED BAEG AR R R
MERRAR (B %mﬁM%&%ﬁMWﬁ
BIENEEREESIRRAERNTMAE
BRAE)  FIREBER R BAEKHIFE352
%%ﬂﬁmah%%mﬁﬂﬁmm%ﬁﬁ
KB B EGEM E T 48 B $5.46%85.67
1ﬁﬁi$ﬁﬁ AR HMANE KD T
REROERRARNAT

Number of Approximate
percentage of

shareholding

shares held
or interested

BEOBERR
EEME ERMtE MR8 BMAREE DL
Mr. Kwong Chi Man Interest in controlled 392,886,000 65.48%
(“Mr. Kwong") corporation (Note 1)
BEXGE ([BEE]) REBGER 2 B (Hfat1)
Note 1: Mr. Kwong beneficially owns 70% of the issued share capital MisE1 . B E &= A Sage City Investments

of Sage City Investments Limited (“Sage City”), the beneficial
owner holding 65.48% shareholding in the Company. Therefore,
Mr. Kwong is deemed to be interested in all the Shares which
are beneficially owned by Sage City for the purpose of the SFO.
Mr. Kwong is the chairman and an executive Director of the

Company, and also a director of Sage City.
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Long position in the shares of associated corporation

Name of Director Nature of interest

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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Number of
shares held

or interested
in associated Percentage of

corporation shareholding

BFEREEREN
BEnE REME MRECEBERDEE BRERDL
Mr. Yip Kong Lok (“Mr. Yip”) Beneficial owner (Note 2) 3,000 shares 30% in
in Sage City Sage City
ERgEs ([#Ex%]) ERBEEAN (M) #Sage City#y 7 Sage City#Y
3,000 & 7 30%HE

Note 2: Mr. Yip is an executive Director and chief executive officer of the

Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the
Directors or chief executive officer of the Company had any
interests and short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or
debentures of the Company or any of the associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would have to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including any interests or
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Rules 5.46 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules relating to securities transactions by the
Directors, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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(B) Substantial Shareholders’ and other persons’

= 8 8 &

interests
and short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debenture of the Company

So far as the Directors were aware, as at 31 March 2023, the
following persons (other than the Directors or chief executive
officer of the Company) had interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who were recorded in
the register of interests required to be kept under section 336 of
the SFO:

Long Position in the Shares

B) FERERHEMATERIRARS

- 1HE
RORERBZTFHEANEZRAR

FREEMA - =¥#=R=+—8"
UTAL (WHARAEERZSITHA
:)%%@ﬁﬁ%%W¢%ﬁm%%#&%
%IMEU%XV*B%Z&C&“* X ARARR
REZETH B ES E'ﬁaiim
@%%%&%a%%%&%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%é
ErRfRmERSAE

_7_

Number of Approximate

shares held percentage of

Name Nature of interest or interested shareholding
BEDEEREREN
s ERMtE RoEE BMARER D
Sage City Beneficial interest (Note 1) 392,886,000 65.48%
EwnlEn (M)

Ms. Li Chuen Chun Interest of spouse (Note 2) 392,886,000 65.48%

EEY L foBiEs (Wit2)

Notes: P 5 -

1, Sage City is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands 1. Sage City 9 5 B g 2 B B LM AL L
and is owned by Mr. Kwong and Mr. Yip as to 70% and 30%, BRF] - WAHBEEREREDFES
respectively. Mr. Kwong is the chairman, an executive Director 70%K30% s o BEERERAER

of the Company, and also a director of Sage City. Mr. Yip is an

executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company.

2. Ms. Li Chuen Chun is the spouse of Mr. Kwong and is deemed to
be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Kwong is interested for

the purposes of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, the Directors
were not aware that any persons (other than the Directors or chief
executive officer of the Company) had interests or short positions
in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who were required to
be recorded in the register of interests required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS AND THEIR SERVICE CONTRACTS
The composition of the Board up to the date of this report is set out as
follows.

Executive Directors

Mr. Kwong Chi Man (Chairman)
(re-elected on 26 August 2022)

Mr. Yip Kong Lok (Chief Executive Officer)
(re-elected on 26 August 2022)

Mr. Yip Wai Man (resigned on 27 July 2022)

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo (re-elected on 27 August 2021)
Mr. Law Pui Cheung (re-elected on 27 August 2021)

Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan (re-elected on 27 August 2021)

Each Director has entered into a service agreement or letter of
appointment with the Company for a fixed term of three years and will
continue thereafter until terminated by either party giving not less than
three months’ written notice to the other party.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Profile of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 7 to 10 of this
report.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
from each of the INEDs pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The Company considers the INEDs to be independent as at the date of
this report.

None of the Directors has entered into any service agreement with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation.

EMOLUMENT OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emolument of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in Notes 23 and 28 to the
consolidated financial statements in this report.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The remuneration committee of the Board will make recommendations
on the remuneration policy and structure of the Directors and senior
management. The remuneration committee regularly reviews and
determines, with delegated responsibilities from the Board, the
remuneration and compensation packages of individual Directors and
senior management by reference to, among other things, market level
of remuneration and compensation paid by comparable companies, the
respective responsibilities of the Directors and the performance of the
Group.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT

Save as the transactions set out in Note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements in this report, the Group has not entered into any
transaction, arrangement or contract that is significant in relation to the
Group’s business to which any of member of the Group was a party and
in which a Director or a connected entity of that Director had, directly or
indirectly, a material interest.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Other than members of the Group, none of the Directors or their
respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) has
interest in any business which competes or is likely to compete, directly
or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

INTEREST OF CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Directors are not aware of any
business or interest of the controlling shareholder of the Company nor
any of their respective associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules)
that compete or may compete with the business of the Group and any
other conlflicts of interest which any such person has or may have with
the Group during the year ended 31 March 2023.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

Each of Mr. Kwong and Sage City (together the “Covenantors”) entered
into a deed of non-competition in favour of the Group (the “Deed of
Non-competition”) on 24 September 2016, details of which are set out
in the section headed “Relationship with Our Controlling Shareholders
— Deed of non-competition” in the Prospectus (the “Non-competition
Undertaking”).
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The Company received from each of the Covenantors an annual
confirmation on their respective compliance of the Non-competition
Undertaking. The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the compliance of the Non-competition Undertaking and evaluated the
effective implementation of the Deed of Non-competition, and they were
satisfied with the Covenantors’ compliance with the Non-competition
Undertaking for the year ended 31 March 2023.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

During the year ended 31 March 2023, neither the Company nor
its subsidiaries has entered into a contract by which (a) a person
undertakes the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company; and (b) the contract is
not a contract of service with any Director or any person engaged in the
full-time employment of the Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for approximately 46.5% of the total revenue of the Group
and the largest customer of the Group accounted for approximately
12.1% of the total revenue.

To the best of the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors or
any of their respective close associates, or any shareholder (which to
the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any interest in the Group’s five largest
customers.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND SUBCONTRACTORS

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group's five largest suppliers
and subcontractors accounted for approximately 72.9% of the total
direct costs of the Group and the largest supplier and subcontractor of
the Group accounted for approximately 39.0% of the total direct costs.

To the best of the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors or
any of their respective close associates, or any Shareholder (which to
the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any interest in the Group’s five largest
suppliers and subcontractors.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

The environmental, social and governance report of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2023 will be published on 30 June 2023
based on the Group’s ESG Code in compliance with the requirements of
Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The corporate governance report of the Company for the year ended 31
March 2023 is set out on pages 17 to 31 of this report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report, the
public float of the Company’s issued securities is sufficient with at least
25% held by the public.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2023, the Company’s reserves available for distribution
to the Shareholders, calculated in accordance with the Companies Law
of the Cayman Islands, amounted to approximately HK$51.0 million.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2023 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”). PwC
will retire, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at
the AGM. A resolution for their re-appointment as the auditor of the
Company will be proposed at the AGM.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
The Board is not aware of any events after the reporting period that
requires disclosure.

By order of the Board
Kwong Man Kee Group Limited
Mr. Kwong Chi Man

Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 23 June 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

e
pwc

To the Shareholders of Kwong Man Kee Group Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

The consolidated financial statements of Kwong Man Kee Group Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on
pages 55 to 139, comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2023;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

. the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;
and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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BASIS FOR OPINION (CONTINUED)

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's RIEFBeHMASEAN(ELeHMEET
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have  BI) (LA TEFE[ T - BB BEEE -
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. WEBITTFARHEMEEEERF -

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

BREEER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, RBIEETEESRBERMNEEHE - AAHK
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial HGAFEBREANEARAETEMEE - ELE
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the HERARMBIBLEGANBRERLAERR
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, #E{TERIEH - BRIt @ HELSHEREEBN=
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate & o

opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows: BMERHRERBINBERS S ZESANT

o Revenue recognition on construction contracts

o RBREANMKAER

* Impairment of trade and retention receivables and contract assets e EWEBESRZINEUWRBSURAHNEE

Key Audit Matter
BREESR

Revenue recognition on contracts for flooring and
ancillary services (“construction contracts”)

wHHRREERG AN ((RESHD]) NKEER

Refer to Notes 2.19, 4(a) and 5 to the consolidated
financial statements for the disclosures of the
related accounting policies, judgements and
estimates.

BRAMBETEE 2 REFORE  F2B&K46
M REM 219 ~ 4(a) K5

For the year ended 31 March 2023, revenue from
construction contracts was HK$170,115,965 (2022:
HK$109,312,765).
BEZZ-=F=-A=1—HIEEE BESHFR
# 2 /3170,115,965/8 7T (ZF = 4 : 109,312,765
WBIT) °
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RMHE N EERERETEE

Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition on construction
contracts included:

ZMBRRER DN KGR REF B

- Obtained an understanding of the Group’s internal

control and assessment process of revenue recognition
on construction contracts and assessed the inherent risk
of material misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent risk factors,
such as subjectivity involved in significant management
judgement.

TR ESERBESHNKRERHNAIES RTERF
WEE A REENREEREMERRREZANKT (MEX
EEEHGMIEMERN) UTAERERERRANES
R o

- Evaluated and validated key controls over revenue

recognition on construction contracts.

A R ER A QR R FER P B BRI ) -



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key Audit Matter
BRRETSE

Revenue from construction contracts is recognised
based on the stage of completion of the Group’s
projects, which is calculated as a ratio of “total
costs incurred” to “total estimated costs for each
project”. Based on the stage of completion, the
Group recognises revenue as a percentage of the
total contract amount at the end of a reporting
period.

BEAAFRNKEIRE EXEHEATIERE
R WRIBEAMKAETE | HETRIEROMGEK
AEBINLEFE - RETIRE - EEERRSE
HRABREEENSEN A D RER S

Management judgement is involved in the
estimation of total costs to complete, including
assessment of future costs of materials and
subcontracting costs.

W THBENEARIETES SREBEERE
B BEFERRTEREANS BKAE -

We focused on this area as the determination
of stage of completion for a project involves
significant management judgement, which is
subject to a high degree of subjectivity and in turn
affects the recognition of revenue for the Group.
BABILER RRAAEETIRRNET SRS
EIFBMEAERE L BMTyE SEERNORE
FER
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BETSZE(E)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMNETNATEERRETSZE

- Compared actual costs incurred against budget costs,

on a sample basis for completed projects, and enquired
management about any material variance.
MENBRERTHEMELANERKARRERAK  YERHE
BEERENEREZER -

- Enquired about and assessed management’s assumptions

on budget costs for a sample of projects, including
subcontracting costs, material costs and labour costs, by
comparing budget cost components to respective supporting
documents, including price quotation and rate of labour
costs. We also tested the mathematical accuracy of the
estimated costs to complete.
BANBRERENAEEBEENERAXG (RRREERS
IRAKE) EHARTHEEEHBEERANEEXR (B
DB - MR ATS TRA) PRERR - ZFHIE T H
T LRAMEMET BB R -

- Tested the total costs incurred as at the end of the reporting

period, on a sample basis, by checking to the underlying
documents supporting these costs (including invoices of
material costs and subcontracting fees).
BERELERNANBEEZAN (BEMHKATNDBERD
ER) BENERREPREELENKALE -

- Discussed the status of projects under construction with

management to determine whether there could be other
factors affecting the calculation of stage of completion, for
example potential claims, by checking to subsequent events
and financial information available to us.
BAGHAREENTHRAMAIESHONBER  HERE
Awmie LHIEE AR - AEERE AT e A EE & (flnE

BRR)FETTIRERNE -

- Tested mathematical accuracy of the calculations of contract

revenue and costs.

BASHE O WS RKAFTENR BRI -

Based on our audit procedures performed, we found the
revenue recognition on construction contracts based on stage of
completion to be supported by the available evidence.
BEIMABTHRAER  BMAZER  RETIRREIRZES0N
W REIREBREMXE -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key Audit Matter
BRETSHE

Impairment of trade and retention receivables and
contract assets
RUREZFERXRERRE ARG NEENRE

Refer to Notes 2.11, 3.1(c), 4(b), 12 and 14 to
the consolidated financial statements for the
disclosures of the related accounting policies,
judgements and estimates.

FHREAgTEE  ABRAEGORE  F2HEG6
B RAME2.11 - 3.1(c) ~ 4(b) * 12K 14 °

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had gross trade
and retention receivables and contract assets
of HK$69,784,925 and HK$9,905,866 (2022:
HK$52,268,956 and HK$6,580,955) and provision
for impairment of HK$7,694,120 and HK$60,570
(2022: HK$6,949,490 and HK$56,837).
RZEZ=F=A=+—H ' E5EREKESEX
REKRE ARG N EERED R /69,784,925
7T 29,905,866/ 7T (ZF = — £ : 52,268,956/8 7L &
6,580,955/ 7T) * MR R 5 Al 57,694,120/ T &
60,570/ 7T (Z T Z =4 : 6,949,490/ 7t }56,837 /%
L) °

Management performed the impairment
assessment of trade and retention receivables and
contract assets based on the information included,
but not limited to, the credit profile of different
customers, the aging profiles, their knowledge
about the customers, market conditions and past
settlement patterns. Management also considered
forward-looking information that may impact
the customers’ ability to repay the outstanding
balances in order to estimate the expected credit
loss for the impairment assessment.
ERERBEEEAN (BRETERTRAEFNEE
PR BRicBER  EREHATFHORE  mHHRAK
BEAERAZ) HRKESRIRERRE UK
BRBEEETHENMG - ERBETR T RHAEN LG
AEBEEEE  EESEARYERPHARERE
BRENE TREE NV ATRE 1L B KL
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMNETNAIEERRETSEE

Our procedures in relation to impairment of trade and retention
receivables and contract assets included:

BRBBRLEESRIARERGRE ARG NEERENERF BT

- Obtained an understanding of the Group’s internal control

and assessment process of impairment of trade and retention
receivables and contract assets and assessed the inherent
risk of material misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent risk factors,
such as complexity and subjectivity involved in significant
management judgement.

TH BEEEREREZIRFEERFRECUARENEENR
EROAPEG RFEERF TERGHAIREENER R
i & R B = E) KT (NEXEREHEH TS REHRERE K
TEMN)  UFHERERBRBANERRR -

- Evaluated and validated the design and operating

effectiveness of the key controls over debt collection and the
impairment assessment process, in particular those over the
identification of impaired receivables and the calculation of
the impairment provision.

Al R AR R E B RORE R R BB R I B R AT R
ELERCR - KRl =R 7 8 Rl B R (B e W s TR B 5t BR B B A Y
MRS o

- Tested the accuracy of the ageing of trade and retention

receivables on a sample basis by tracing to the respective
invoices.
BABMERER MEAARKE SR RERRE €K
e B R BRI o

- Assessed the appropriateness of the expected credit loss

provision methodology.
AEEREEERREENABEMN -

- Enquired about and assessed the information and data used

to determine the expected credit loss by considering the cash
collection performance against historical trends, the level of
credit loss changes over time, certain customers’ individual
credit ratings and the reasonableness of forward - looking
information.

BAZRULELBETHNRERRER  EEEEKTRER
Rl  ETEPHNERNGEETRRABEEEHNSEY &
ARTERNECRREEEERMANERREE -



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key Audit Matter
BRRETSE

We focused on this area because trade and
retention receivables and contract assets represent
56% of current assets and certain balances are
long aged. The estimation of impairment under
the expected credit loss model is also subject
to high degree of estimate uncertainty due to
subjectivity of significant assumptions used and

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B Y & B B ® & =

BETEE(E)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMNETNATEERRETSZE

Discussed with management the recoverability of individually
significant receivables, corroborating management
explanations by checking to the status of underlying projects,
information about contracted parties and subsequent
settlements, if any. We also tested the existence of
subsequent settlement on a sample basis by checking to the
underlying bank pay-in slips.

B I8 T &t i (Bl 2 B A0 B WO SR IR O R AR (B PR BR - 3 R B A

significant judgements involved in selecting data
for calculation.

RAMINEE  EESEKE SRR LERRE

AREBHEEGRBEENSES  BETHEHBNEKR AHREBK
BEAN - mRRAEMANEABRRAB BN

EREBBHER S RERAE  SAREBRNEES
BREMETHRER S TFESEEFTEEM] -

HEEE AR
HEEEBMMERE - BB BREARRTHOS E MR
BRFH °

AN TMERMERES (B)BER - VAL

We found management’s assessment of the impairment of trade
and retention receivables and contract assets to be supported by

the available audit evidence.
BMER EEEHRNEZRIEERREEUARENEEREN
FE o RBIRABTREMESE -

OTHER INFORMATION
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED BB X :2 &£ B & B 2

HfE 2
ERREFAUAMESAR - HMEEBEH
REREIBREAUBRREAMBELA

HZBENRE) AAERES -

ZMHEEMBERENTLT T RERMLES
BTG ZEFEMEREREMTANERL

BARBRMNUSESMBERNET  AMANEER
HEEMES  ElRRRT ZEAMEERERE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B Y % B M ® EH B

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT COMMITTEE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

| ANNUAL REPORT 2023 3k
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED BB X :2 &£ B & B 2
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B Y % B M ® EH B

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor's report is Lam Chun Yee, Johnny.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 23 June 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

= & B B KK R R

As at 31 March 2023 R=F_-=4=A=+—H

As at 31 March

R=B=+-—H
Note 2023 2022
HK$ BT B =H=E —T__
ASSETS gE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y BB MR E 6 12,048,932 12,744,163
Investment accounted for using the equity FREREARZIEE
method 3,788,243 4,812,006
Investment in an insurance contract RRBRE D ZIRE 1,340,585 1,302,811
Financial assets at fair value through profit AAFEFABREZ
or loss TRIBEE 9 2,415,393 -
Right-of-use assets FREEE 10 26,123,787 25,933,099
Deferred tax assets ERERIBEE 17 7,763 875
45,724,703 44,792,954
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 11 14,657,802 25,739,309
Trade and retention receivables EWESERARERRE S 12 62,090,805 45,319,466
Prepayments and other receivables FEAS FRTE I E fth JE U FRR 13 3,315,020 2,724,075
Financial assets at fair value through profit or AR FEE ABz 2
loss EREE 4,058,279 -
Contract assets BHEE 14 9,845,296 6,524,118
Current income tax recoverable EEdEER:EE Ry 196,891 831,651
Cash and cash equivalents HehBELEEY 15 34,409,576 23,869,941
128,573,669 105,008,560
Total assets BEAME 174,298,372 149,801,514
EQUITY s
Share capital N 16 6,000,000 6,000,000
Reserves {1 61,300,884 61,269,229
Retained earnings RE & F 50,951,969 34,835,083
118,252,853 102,104,312
Non-controlling interests FERES 420,841 (287,876)
Total equity FE R MR 5 118,673,694 101,816,436

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED BB X :2 &£ B & B 2
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

= & B B K

As at 31 March 2023 R _-=4=H=+—H
As at 31 March
R=B=+-—H
Note 2023 2022
HK$ BT B 5E —E-= —E- =
LIABILITIES =L
Non-current liabilities *RBEE
Deferred tax liabilities EERBEAE 17 211,653 101,298
Lease liabilities HEAE 10 1,138,433 375,982
[ 1,350,086 A2
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables BN E ZHRN 18 22,003,876 22,244,765
Accruals and other payables et E R K E b B FUE 19 2,833,211 3,126,168
Contract liabilities EHAEE 14 14,057,731 5,415,056
Bank borrowings RITEE 20 12,071,835 15,090,311
Lease liabilities HEARE 10 749,794 469,453
Current income tax liabilities BIEIFEHAE 2,558,145 1,162,045
54,274,592 47,507,798
Total liabilities &R 55,624,678 47,985,078
Total equity and liabilities BakEERAE 174,298,372 149,801,514

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

LR & B S IR0 3K B B B Y Y 5 — G GO -

The consolidated financial statements on pages 55 to 139 were approved by the Board of Directors on 23 June 2023 and

were signed on its behalf.

FoSE10E MR K RARBETER =

Mr. Kwong Chi Man
BXEE
Director

EF
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Mr. Yip Kong Lok
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Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
8 &2 H B # X

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #E R =4 = =+ — H IL4EJE

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1T—HILEE

Note 2023 2022
HK$ BT B & —E-=# —E-=
Revenue & 5 170,605,077 110,416,026
Cost of sales HEKA 22 (116,759,439) (74,678,505)
Gross profit EF 53,845,638 35,737,521
Other income and other gains, net Hopth Yo A T At s % 2R 21 2,348,302 417,651
Impairment loss on trade and retention EUEEFERRELRES
receivables and contract assets UREHEEZRERBE 12, 14 (748,363) (2,404,493)
General and administrative expenses — R RITHAXS 22 (30,243,940) (24,104,059)
Operating profit RSl 25,201,637 9,646,620
Finance costs, net B 5 PK AN 5 5E 24 (188,106) (296,337)
Share of loss of an associate accounted for {255 A BR 7 FE{G B &
using the equity method NRIEE 7 (1,023,763) (187,994)
Profit before income tax BR P 15 Bt A& A 23,989,768 9,162,289
Income tax expense B X 25 (4,176,869) (1,742,223)
Profit for the year FERA 19,812,899 7,420,066
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to: BEEERHN/ (BE)
- Owners of the Company — ARElEE A 19,116,886 7,463,648
- Non-controlling interests — FEERER 696,013 (43,582)
19,812,899 7,420,066
Other comprehensive income/(loss): Htn2mEhzE/ (BE)
ltem that may be reclassified to profit or loss Al At EH D EREBH 2B R
- Exchange difference on translation of — BENHERZERL
foreign operations =5 44,359 (5,872)
Other comprehensive income/(loss), Hi 2@z, (&E) -
net of tax HIBR 18 44,359 (5,872)
Total comprehensive income for the year FEZ2EWEHEEE 19,857,258 7,414,194
Total comprehensive income/(loss) EE2mkas (BE)
attributable to: HEE
- Owners of the Company — ARElEE A 19,148,541 7,460,941
- Non-controlling interests — FEERER 708,717 (46,747)
19,857,258 7,414,194
Earnings per share attributable to owners ZARQFEE AEGERER
of the Company
- Basic and diluted (HK cents per share) — EAREE (BRBWL) 27 3.19 1.24

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Lilidr & 2 Yok 3R RE ERBE P I — FBOGE -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ & =4 =H =+—H IL4E)§

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARERAAER
Non-
Share Share Capital ~ Shareholder ~ Translation Retained controlling
capital premium reserve  contribution reserve earnings Total interests Total
Rx  BRVEE  EXRE  RRME  RERE  REEV & FERER &3
(Note 16(a)) ~ (Note 16(a)) ~ (Note 16(b))  (Note 16(c))
HKS AT (Wiiee)  (Witee)  (Witee) (K i6c)
Balance at 1 April 2021 RZE--£MA-A
s 6,000,000 52,482,955 108 8,800,000 (11,127) 33,371,435 100,643,371 (241,129) 100,402,242
Profit/(loss) for the year ERgH/ (58) - - - - - 7463648 7463648 (43582) 7,420,066
Other comprehensive loss EEEM2EEE
for the year
Exchange differences on translation B ESNE %72
of foreign operations EXES - - - - (2,707) - (2,707) (3,165) (5.872)
Total comprehensive (loss)income  E£E 2 (58) /hiE
for the year g = = = = (2707) 7,463,648 7,460,941 (46,747) 7,414,194
Dividends (Note 26) & (Witze) = = = = - (6,000,000 (6,000,000) - (6,000,000
Balance at 31 March 2022 RZB-ZE
ZA=T-BH&B 6000000 52482955 108 8,800,000 (13,834) 34,835,083 102,104,312 (287,876) 101,816,436

| ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &RE _F "~ =4E=H =+—H IL4EE

Attributable to owners of the Company

= PAN
W [=]

E #&®

AORERAELR
Non-
Share Share Capital  Shareholder ~ Translation Retained controlling
capital premium reserve contribution reserve earnings Total interests Total
Rx  BROEE  ERRE  RRHE  AERE  REEV & FERER @it
(Note 16(a)) ~ (Note 16(a)) ~ (Note 16(b))  (Note 16(c))
HKS 7 (Wiee)  (Witiee)  (Wittek)  (Hi6c)
Balance at 1 April 2022 RZE-ZEMA-A
g 6,000,000 52,482,955 108 8,800,000 (13,634) 34,835,083 102,104,312 (267,876) 101,816,436
Profit for the year EREH - - - - - 19,116,886 19,116,886 696,013 19,812,899
Other comprehensive income EEHM2ENE
for the year
Exchange differences on translation B ESNEI#HK 2
of foreign operations ERZER - - - - 31,655 - 31,655 12,704 44,359
Total comprehensive income EEXENRED
for the year - - - - 31,655 19,116,886 19,148,541 708,717 19,857,258
Dividends (Note 26) & (Wize) - - - - - (3,000,000)  (3,000,000) - (3,000,000)
Balance at 31 March 2023 RZE-=%
ZR=T-AMER 6,000,000 52,482,955 108 8,800,000 17,821 50,951,969 118,252,853 420,841 118,673,694

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

= a8 B & R B X

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &£ _%F

AE A S R

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t—HILEE

Note 2023 2022

HK$ BT i 5 ==5 —F_C
Cash flows from operating activities REZHMEBRELRE
Net cash generated from operations KEERIE S 29(a) 26,241,704 3,592,349
Income taxes paid EANEIEET (2,042,542) (3,444,237)
Net cash generated from operating activities K& ZEREFHE 24,199,162 148,112
Cash flows from investing activities REZHMERELRE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment ﬁ% W R MR E (339,626) (4,301,433)
Financial assets at fair value through REEFAERZ

profit or loss épﬁéﬁ (6,289,600) -
Investment in an associate REE N R 2R E - (4,000,000)
Investment in an insurance contract RIRBANZRE - (1,413,262)
Interest income received B H BB A 144,443 105
Net cash used in investing activities REESMAFES (6,484,783) (9,714,590)
Cash flows from financing activities METBHMESHRERE
Dividend paid BERRE 26 (3,000,000) (6,000,000)
Proceed from bank borrowings BRITEEMEHRIE 29(b) 16,500,000 6,440,000
Repayment of bank borrowings BEBETEE 29(b) (19,518,476) (760,171)
Payment of lease liabilities INHEERE 29(b) (692,096) (476,026)
Interest paid BRHE (511,711) (296,442)
Net cash used in financing activities MEEZESHFAFRS (7,222,283) (1,092,639)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash HRE&RBEEEEYEE M,/

equivalents (A2 10,492,096 (10,659,117)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FUNRERBELEED

of the year 23,869,941 34,651,775
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes HNEETE R B ) 5 £ 47,539 (22,717)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year EXRHNRERELEEY 34,409,576 23,869,941

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Litir & B2 R 8 3R RE ERBE I — fFBIAE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

Kwong Man Kee Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands on 30 May 2016 as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The
address of its registered office is P.O. Box 309, Ugland House,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands and its principal place
of business is 21/F, The Bedford, 91-93 Bedford Road, Kowloon,
Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the provision of engineering services in flooring,
screeding, anti-skid surfacing, specialised texture painting and
waterproofing works. The controlling shareholder of the Company
is Mr. Kwong Chi Man (“Mr. Kwong”) and the parent company of
the Company is Sage City Investments Limited (“Sage City”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), unless otherwise stated.

The Company listed its shares on GEM of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited on 13 October 2016 (the “Listing”).

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for investment in an insurance contract
and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
which are carried at cash surrender value and fair value
respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in Note 4.

(a) New standards and amendments to existing standards

and interpretations adopted by the Group

The following new and amendments to existing

standards and interpretations are mandatory for the

financial year beginning 1 April 2022.

Standards

Amendments to
HKFRS 3

Amendments to
HKAS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 37

Amendments to

Annual Improvements

Project

Amendment to
HKFRS 16

Revised Accounting

Guideline 5

Subject of amendments

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Property, Plant and Equipment
- Proceeds before Intended
Use

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

COVID-19 Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30
June 2021

Merger Accounting
for Common Control
Combinations

None of the above new standard, amendments to

existing standards and annual improvements is

expected to have a significant effect on the consolidated

financial statements of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b) New standards and amendments to existing standards
and interpretations that are not yet effective and have
not been early adopted by the Group
The following new standards and amendments to
existing standards and interpretations have been
published and are not effective for accounting periods
beginning on 1 April 2022 and have not been early
adopted by the Group:

Standards Subject of amendments
%8 (THES ]

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
BREMBREEE7H Rz 4

HKFRS 17

Information
BB BREENE1THR
—hRER
Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2
%%ﬁﬁﬁmﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%%
MEENEBHASERNER
Amendments to HKAS 8
BR G LR ESRME]
Amendments to HKAS 12

SHBRRNKE

EiHETRER

single transaction
BE e ERF 12 ET
Hong Kong Interpretation 5

Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 - Comparative

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Definition of Accounting Estimates

Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a

= & B B | & KM &

EREHRBE (B)

21 RREE(H)

(b) [HARERCE [E K B AN EFEFTIR

uTﬁﬁW&ﬁﬁﬁwz1Jﬂ
REELAMH  BEHR=_T==
FOHA—-BRENHSTERELR
HE R e 7R S B 0 AR SR AT ER A

Effective for
accounting year
beginning on or after
HUTBEHREREA
NEFFELER

1 January 2023
e
1 January 2023

BREREEMBRELNETREEEYBRELNFNE —T-_=F-A—-H

1 January 2023
—=f—-A—H
1 January 2023

I =
1 January 2023

BE-QHTELNEERABABNELHE —B-_=%-j—H

Presentation of Financial Statements - Classification by the

1 January 2024

(2020) Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on

Demand Clause
MBBRENET -ERAHS

nE
Amendments to HKAS 1
ERGHERFIRNET BENBRRDIGERD
Amendments to HKAS 1
BRGHEUE1IRMNEET
Amendments to HKFRS 16
ERMBRSEUNZ6HMNET EREDNRITHEERR

WERDGEENERBAE

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its

HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture

ZRERETNTHERN

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

1 January 2024
—Z-mME-H—H
1 January 2024
—TMFE-A—-H
1 January 2024
—Z-mME-HA-H
To be determined

BREBBREEAFI0RK REZEEBENARAE X ANEEHERTA 5

BAGENF28HAET]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 S RERME (8)
(Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 2.1 REEE(E)
(b) New standards and amendments to existing Standards

64

and interpretations that are not yet effective and have
not been early adopted by the Group (Continued)

The Group will adopt the new and revised standards and
interpretations when they become effective.

The Amendments to HKAS 12 require companies to
recognise deferred tax on transactions that, on initial
recognition, give rise to equal amounts of taxable and
deductible temporary differences. They will typically
apply to transactions such as leases of lessees and
decommissioning obligations and will require the
recognition of additional deferred tax assets and
liabilities. As a result, deferred taxes arising from certain
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the Group may
be recognised. The Group is assessing and quantifying
the impact at the moment.

Other than the aforementioned amendment, the new
accounting standard and other amendments to existing
standards, improvement, interpretation and accounting
guideline are not expected to have a material impact on
the Group in the current or future reporting periods and
on foreseeable future transactions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= 8 B B | R KM &

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 SBAEHEMEE)
(Continued)

Subsidiaries are all entities (including a structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls an
entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the
date that control ceases.

Intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses
on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.
Profits and losses resulting from inter-company transactions
that are recognised in assets are also eliminated. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of financial position, consolidated statement
of comprehensive income and consolidated statement of
changes in equity, respectively.

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests
that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with
equity owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest
results in an adjustment between the carrying amounts of the
controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative
interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and any
consideration paid or received is recognised in a separate
reserve within equity attributable to owners of the Company.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Associates are all entities over which the Group has
significant influence but not control or joint control. This is
generally the case where the Group holds between 20%
and 50% of the voting rights. Investment in an associate is
accounted for using the equity method of accounting, after
initially being recognised at cost.

Under the equity method of accounting, the investment
is initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group'’s share of the post-acquisition profits or
losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s share
of movements in other comprehensive income of the investee
in other comprehensive income. Dividends received or
receivable from the associate are recognised as a reduction
in the carrying amount of the investment.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted
investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity,
including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the other
entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
associate are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest
in the associate. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity-accounted
investee have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investment is tested
for impairment in accordance with the policy described in
Note 2.9.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.4

2.5

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the consolidated financial statements
of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in HK$,
which is the Company’s functional currency and the
Group’s presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions or valuation where
items are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that statement of financial position;

income and expenses for each income statement
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of
the transactions); and

(iii) all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of any net investment in foreign entities
are recognised in other comprehensive income. When
a foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming
part of the net investment are repaid, the associated
exchange differences are reclassified to profit or loss, as
part of the gain or loss on sale.

2.6 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent

with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating

decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who

is responsible for allocating resources and assessing

performance of the operating segments, has been identified

as the directors of the Group who make strategic decisions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.7

2.8

Investment in an insurance contract

The Group invests in a key management life insurance
contract. The insurance contract is initially recognised at the
amount of premium paid, and subsequently measured at its
cash surrender value. Changes to the cash surrender value
are recognised in profit or loss and presented net within
“‘other income and other gains, net”. In the event of death
of the insured person, the surrender of the policy, or the
policy matures, the investment will be derecognised and any
resulting gains or losses will be recognised in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

The property, plant and equipment is stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of
the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs
are charged in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated

using the straight-line method to allocate their cost over their

estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings 30 years

Leasehold improvements Shorter of remaining period of
the lease or 3 years

3 years

3 years

Furniture and equipment
Motor vehicles
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.9).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amount and are recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful
life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually
for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other
assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups
of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other
than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed
for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO)
method. The cost comprises costs of purchase and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to the construction
sites to be consumed in the provision of construction
services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.11 Financial assets

(a)

(b)

Classification
The group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

-  those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through other comprehensive income or
through profit or loss), and

- those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend
on whether the Group has made an irrevocable election
at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity
investment at fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.11 Financial assets (Continued)

(c)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs
of financial assets carried at fair value through profit
or loss are expensed in consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group's business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There
are three measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

- Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection

of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is
recognised directly in profit or loss and presented
in other gains/(losses) together with foreign
exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are
presented as separate line item in the statement of
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 SBAEHEMEE)
(Continued)

2.11 Financial assets (Continued) 2.11 SREE (8)
(c) Measurement (Continued) (c) iT=E(#&

Debt instruments (Continued) EFETA(E)

- FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of - NAFEFAEMEER
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial HoAKEENE SR
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent ERHEeREEEL AE
solely payments of principal and interest, are MWEEMmMS Wz &EE
measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying NREREAREE KA

amount are taken through OCI, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses,
interest income and foreign exchange gains and
losses which are recognised in profit or loss.
When the financial asset is derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in
OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss
and recognised in other gains/(losses). Interest
income from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest rate
method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in other gains/(losses) and impairment
expenses are presented as separate line item in
the statement of profit or loss.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in
profit or loss and presented net within other gains/
(losses) in the period in which it arises.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.11 Financial assets (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Measurement (Continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value gains and
losses on equity investments in other comprehensive
income, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair
value gains and losses to profit or loss following the
derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such
investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss
as other income when the Group’s right to receive
payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL
are recognised in other gains/(losses) in the statement
of profit or loss as applicable. Impairment losses (and
reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments
measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from
other changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments at amortised cost. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial
recognition of the receivables, see note 3.1(c) for further
details.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2
(Continued)
2.12 Trade, retention and other receivables

EREHRBE (B)

212 RREZRAR  BURESRAME

Trade, retention and other receivables are amounts due from
customers for services performed in the ordinary course of
business. Trade receivables are recognised initially at the
amount of consideration that is unconditional. The Group
holds the trade receivables with the objective of collecting
the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest

KR IE

BUWE SRS BURRES KEME
YRR/ B R ER BT ATRSE
MEREF 2B - BRE ZEZRAD
FRAEHEGT SRER - A&E
WEEBEHNRERERB WA ENK
BB HERKRABRMNEEE
BHR A EXERRESRK -

method.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the EENRHEDEREARERPE
use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is TR MEBBEERNGE 2E R
recognised in the impairment loss on trade and retention RAMELESERNERREEZ

receivables in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. When a trade, retention and other receivable is
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account
for trade, retention and other receivables. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited
against the impairment loss on trade and retention
receivables in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

If collection of trade, retention and other receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current

assets. If no, they are presented as non-current assets.

2.13 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and
deposits held at call with banks with original maturities of
three months or less.

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand,
deposits held at call with banks with original maturities of
three months or less that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.14 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
share or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.

2.15 Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services
provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year which
are unpaid. Trade and other payables are presented as
current liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months
after the reporting period. They are recognised initially at
their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

2.16 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value
is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that
it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the drawdown
occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee
is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services and
amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= 8 B B | R KM &

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 SBAEHEMEE)
(Continued)

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement
of financial position when the obligation specified in the
contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has
been extinguished or transferred to another party and the
consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred
or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as
finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting
period.

The income tax expense for the period is the tax payable on
the current period’s taxable income based on the applicable
income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in
deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences and to unused tax losses. Current and deferred
tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period in the countries where the
Company and its subsidiaries and associates operate
and generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation and considers whether it is probable that a
taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment.
The Group measures its tax balances either based on
the most likely amount or the expected value, depending
on which method provides a better prediction of the
resolution of the uncertainty.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.17 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill.
Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it
arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in
a transaction other than a business combination that at
the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

The deferred tax liability in relation to investment
property that is measured at fair value is determined
assuming the property will be recovered entirely through
sale.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise
those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and
tax bases of investments in foreign operations where
the company is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EASHHBREE(E)
(Continued)
2.17 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

i

1)

(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
and liabilities and where the deferred tax balances
relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets
and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

2.18 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole.

A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow
with respect to any one item included in the same class of
obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of
time is recognised as interest expense.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.19 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration

received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for

services rendered in the normal course of business.

(a)

Construction contracts

Revenue from the construction services is recognised
over time as the Group’s performance creates or
enhances an asset or work in progress that the customer

controls as the asset is created or enhanced.

The Group has applied the input method in
recognising the revenue from construction contracts
by reference to the Group’s efforts or inputs to the
satisfaction on a performance obligation relative to
the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of the
performance obligation. Accordingly, the Group uses
the “percentage-of-completion method” to determine
the appropriate amount of revenue to recognise in a
given period. The stage of completion is measured by
reference to costs incurred to date as a percentage of
total contract costs.

The Group considers the input method better depicts the
Group’s performance in transferring control of goods or
services to their customers.

When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be
estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised only
to the extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to
be recoverable.

Variations in contract work, claims and incentive
payments are included in contract revenue to the extent
that may have been agreed with the customer and are
capable of being reliably measured.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.19 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Construction contracts (Continued)

Estimates of revenues, costs or extent of progress
toward completion are revised if circumstances change.
Any resulting increases or decreases in estimated
revenues or costs are reflected in profit or loss in the
period in which the circumstances that give rise to the
revision become known by management.

The customer pays the fixed amount based on a
payment schedule. If the services rendered by the
Group exceed the payment, a contract asset is
recognised. If the payments exceed the services

rendered, a contract liability is recognised.

All construction contracts by the Group are warranted
to be free of defects for a period of one year. Expected
cost for warranty repairs are accrued when necessary.

No element of financing is deemed present as payments
are in accordance with the typical payment terms of the
relevant industry.

Sales of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the
control of the products has transferred, being when the
products are delivered to the customer, the customer
has full discretion over the channel and price to sell the
products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could
affect the customer’s acceptance of the products.

A receivable is recognised when the goods are
delivered as this is the point in time that the
consideration is unconditional because only the passage
of time is required before the payment is due. Contract
liabilities are recognised when payments are received
from customers in advance but the relevant performance
obligation has not been performed.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.20 Interest income

2.21

Interest income is presented as finance income where
it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes. Any other interest income is included
in other income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently become
credit-impaired. For credit impaired financial assets, the
effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).

Employee benefits

(a) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result
of services rendered by employees up to the reporting
date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

(b) Pension obligations

The Group participates in a defined contribution plan
in Hong Kong and pays contributions to privately
administered pension insurance plans on a mandatory,
contractual or voluntary basis. The Group has no further
payment obligations once the contributions have been
paid. The contributions are recognised as employee
benefit expense when they are due.

(c) Bonus plan
The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses based on a formula that takes into
consideration the profit attributable to the Company’s
owners. The Group recognises a provision where
contractually obliged or where there is a past practice
that has created a constructive obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 SBAEHEMEE)
(Continued)

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines
that the arrangement conveys a right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Such determination is made on an evaluation
of the substance of the arrangement, regardless of whether
the arrangements take the legal form of a lease.

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessee with
respect to certain premises, motor vehicles and equipment.

Leases are initially recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding liabilities at the date of which the leased asset
is available for use by the Group. Each lease payment is
allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance
cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each period. The right-of-use asset
is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
asset’s estimated useful life and the lease term.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the following lease payments:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

e  variable lease payment that are based on an index or a
rate;

e amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise that option;

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option; and

o lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement
of lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= 8 B B ® xr KM ==

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EBEAS:HBEME (&)
(Continued)
2.22 Leases (Continued) 2.22 HE ()

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined,
which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate
that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with
similar terms, security and conditions.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease liabilities;

e any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentive received;

e any initial direct costs; and

e  restoration costs, if any.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line
basis.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and
vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on
a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term
leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less
without a purchase option. Low-value assets comprise IT
equipment and small items of office furniture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= & B B | & KM &

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2
(Continued)
2.23 Government grants

EREHRBE (B)

2.23 BT AL

Government grants are recognised at their fair value when
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the combined statements of comprehensive
income over the period necessary to match them with the
costs that they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to the purchase of property,
plant and equipment are included in non-current liabilities as
deferred income and are credited to combined statements
of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the
expected lives of the related assets.

2.24 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Company’s consolidated
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors, as
appropriate.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk
and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance.

Management regularly manages the financial risks of the
Group. Because of the simplicity of the financial structure and
the current operations of the Group, no hedging activities are
undertaken by management.

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and is
exposed to immaterial exchange risk from various
currency exposures.

As the assets and liabilities of each company within
the Group are mainly denominated in the respective
company’s functional currency, the directors are of the
opinion that the Group’s volatility of its profits against
changes in exchange rates of foreign currencies would
not be significant.

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from bank deposits,
bank borrowings and lease liabilities. Bank borrowings
issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk which is partially offset by the bank
deposits. Lease liabilities issued at fixed rates expose
the Group to fair value interest rate risk. The interest rate
profile of bank borrowings is disclosed in Note 20. The
bank deposits generate interest at the prevailing market
interest rates.

As at 31 March 2023, if interest rates had been 25 basis
points higher/lower with all other variables held constant,
the Group’s profit for the year would have increased/
decreased by approximately HK$47,000 (2022:
HK$18,000), mainly as a result of higher/lower interest
income over expense on floating rate bank deposits and
bank borrowings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= 8 B B | R KM &

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BXEEREE(E)

Credit risk of the Group mainly arises from trade and
retention receivables, contract assets, other receivables
and cash and cash equivalents. The carrying amounts of
these balances except cash on hand in the consolidated
statement of financial position represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its
financial assets.

Cash and cash equivalents

The majority of the Group’s bank balances are placed
in financial institutions which are independently rated
with high credit ratings. Management does not expect
any losses from non-performance by these financial
institutions as they have no default history in the past.

Other receivables

Other receivables are also subject to the impairment
requirements under HKFRS 9. It is measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected
credit loss, depending on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
If a significant increase in credit risk of a receivable
has occurred since initial recognition, impairment is
measured as lifetime expected credit losses. As at 31
March 2023 and 2022, the identified impairment loss for
other receivables is assessed to be minimal.

Trade and retention receivables and contract assets

For trade and retention receivables and contract assets,
the Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measuring expected credit losses which uses a
lifetime expected credit loss allowance for all trade
and retention receivables and contract assets without
financing components.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade and
retention receivables have been grouped based on the
shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)

Credit risk
Trade and retention receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

The Group divided trade and retention receivables

(Continued)

and contract assets into two categories to measure
the expected credit loss rates. Category 1 is for
customers who have a relatively low credit risk and no
default history. Category 2 is for customers who have
a relatively higher credit risk. With different types of
customers, the Group calculated the expected credit
loss rates respectively.

For category 1, the Group considers that these
customers have a good credit profile and no default
history. Also, these customers are financially capable
of settling the outstanding amount. The expected credit
loss for these customers are assessed individually.

For category 2, the expected credit loss rates for the
trade and retention receivables is determined according
to a provision matrix where balances that are less than
18 months (2022: 12 months) overdue are provided for
at expected credit loss rates per below and trade and
retention receivables more than 18 months (2022: 12
months) overdue are 100% provided for.

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 March 2023
and 2022 was determined as follows for trade and
retention receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= a

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade and retention receivables and contract assets

(Continued)

Category 1: Customers have a relatively low credit
risk and no default history

M OB O® KR KB R

BRRERERE (E)
31 HHREREZ(E)
(c) EEBEE (&)

EWE S RIERRE & UK

RHEE (&)

F18: FERRELRERE
BHRENEF

Trade and retention receivables

FEREZERRERRES
As at 31 March
R=A=+-—H
2023 2022
HK$ BT —E-=F —E-—
Gross carrying amount REAE 32,599,633 27,533,686
Expected credit loss rates (Note) BHEEBEX (f:2) 0.2% 0.2%
Loss allowance BEEE (71,980) (62,053)
Net carrying amount REFE 32,527,653 27,471,633
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 B EREE (E)
Trade and retention receivables and contract assets TEWE S Bk RIENIRE & A R
(Continued) BHEE (&)
Category 2: Customers have a relatively higher credit 2l FERREHBRENE
risk =

Trade and retention receivables
EUEZRIRELRES
Pastdue  Pastdue  Pastdue  Pastdue
within 31 to 60 61to 90 over 90

Current 30 days days days days Total
k] k] k] k]

HKS BT B 308/  31Z60E 612908  #BiB90R @t
As at 31 March 2023 AZECZ=F
=A=1-H

Gross carrying amount R 15,844,066 6,513,753 713,402 1,864,513 12,249,558 37,185,292
Expected credit loss rates ~ BHIEEERR

(Note) (Hi:2) 2.1% 4.9% 6.1% 8.4% 55.3% -

Loss allowance EREE (328,539)  (318,305)  (43,296)  (156,696) (6,775,304) (7,622,140)

Net carrying amount REFE 15,515,527 6,195,448 670,106 1,707,817 5,474,254 29,563,152
As at 31 March 2022 RZBZZF
ZR=t-H

Gross carrying amount FAaeE 10,324,988 3,152,761 2,069,279 2,964,152 6,224,090 24,735,270
Expected credit loss rates ~ HEHEEBHEX

(Note) (i) 1.6% 12.7% 19.3% 31.0% 80.5% -

Loss allowance FEAE (162,068)  (398,002)  (398,681)  (917,594) (5,010,192) (6,887,437)

Net carrying amount REFE 10,162,920 2,753,859 1,670,598 2,046,558 1,213,898 17,847,833
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 MBERER(E)
Trade and retention receivables and contract assets JEW B Z R R IEW AR 2 LA %
(Continued) BHEE (&)
The contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress EREEERRABEZNAEEL
and have substantially the same risk characteristics REH HAMAEREZER
as the current trade receivables for the same types of (RRABAELAME) Z AR KEE
contracts. The Group has therefore concluded that the Ao Filt - AEBR SR AER
expected credit loss rates for trade receivables are BHRFNEHEESERE S
a reasonable approximation of the loss rates for the BRUREHEENEERE - &
contract assets. On that basis, the loss allowance as at WEE  SHNBEER_ZTE_=F
31 March 2023 and 2022 was determined as follows for M—E-—F=A=+—HHE
contract assets. BREETWT
Contract assets BHEE
Category 1  Category 2 Total
HK$ BT E18 EpL] et
As at 31 March 2023 R-ZBZ=F=ZA=+—H
Gross carrying amount REAE 7,817,245 2,088,621 9,905,866
Expected credit loss rates (Note) — TAER{z & 1B =R (#f5) 0.2% 2.1% =
Loss allowance BiEEE (17,260) (43,310) (60,570)
Net carrying amount BRERE 7,799,985 2,045,311 9,845,296
As at 31 March 2022 R-ZBZZF=ZA=+—H
Gross carrying amount RHAE 3,456,271 3,124,684 6,580,955
Expected credit loss rates (Note) TEH{ZE BB X (/) 0.2% 1.6% =
Loss allowance BiEEE (7,790) (49,047) (56,837)
Net carrying amount EEFEE 3,448,481 3,075,637 6,524,118
Note: Expected credit loss rates were determined based Biit . BEEEBERERREAE
on the Group’s internal and historical credit loss BEHABRBATEEEEH
data, the days past due and the probability of default & BEABXEKENH
of customers. The Group also takes into account KMERE o AEE Tt Rk
forward-looking information on factors relevant to the AEERERFETER
industry in which the Group and its customers operate, A& (NEBEMNEREK
such as investment level of Hong Kong. F)HRTEEER o
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade and retention receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

Trade and retention receivables, contract assets and
other receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there
is no reasonable expectation of recovery include the
failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with
the Group. Impairment losses on trade and retention
receivables and contract assets are presented as net
impairment losses within operating profit. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited
against the same line item.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining
sufficient cash and the availability of funding from
external parties.

The Group’s primary cash requirements have been for
payments for capital expenditures, loan repayment,
trade payables, other creditors, accrued liabilities and
operating expenses. Accordingly, the directors are of
the opinion that the Group does not have significant
liquidity risk.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities
into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the date of the consolidated statement of
financial position to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows. Fair values of balances due on
demand or less than 1 year approximate their carrying
balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= 8 B B | R KM &

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 MBERER(E)
Specifically, for bank borrowings which contain a BEms  HRNESKREXRESR
repayment on demand clause which can be exercised BRORTEE (RTT2ER
at the bank’s sole discretion, the analysis shows the BREITEZIGER) » DWER
cash outflow based on the earliest period in which the AEBEAIKER LT FRITIEER
Group can be required to pay, that is if the lender were ZREHBRABRLRL  AREE
to invoke their unconditional rights to call the loans with A 5| E B AGFRE R L BIB U
immediate effect. B o
On demand Between Between
or less than 1and 2 2and5 Over
1 year years years 5 years Total
HKS BT -FR  -E@AFR  ZELER BRLE @z
As at 31 March 2023 R=-Z==
=A=+-—H
Trade payables T8 28R 22,003,876 - - - 22,003,876
Financial liabilities included in STAEAERR
accruals and other payables HEFRIBZ
ERARE 1,827,801 - - - 1,827,801
Bank borrowings RITRE 12,342,854 - - - 12,342,854
Lease liabilities HEERE 810,020 655,416 531,595 - 1,997,031
36,984,551 655,416 531,595 - 38,171,562
As at 31 March 2022 R-®Z-Z
=B=+-—H
Trade payables BRE SRR 22,244,765 = = - 22244765
Financial liabilities included in STAEAERR
accruals and other payables HEMHIBZ
o= 2,366,627 - - - 2,366,627
Bank borrowings BITEE 15,330,025 - - 15330025
Lease liabilities HE&RE 489,665 194,060 200,001 - 883,726
40,431,082 194060 200,001 - 40825143
KWONG MAN KEE GROUPLIMITED BB X e S B B R 2 & |
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 UXRERERE(E)

Where the loan agreement contains a repayable on HWEER BRTESERERKER
demand clause which gives the lender the unconditional BIER  MZERGE TERAE
right to call the loan at any time, the amounts repayable T {m] B ] AT 4 (R 5 4 3B WU S 3R D
are classified in the earliest time bracket in which the ER - BEEENSHEERAE
lender could demand repayment. Based on the internal FARERETHNZERER - 18
information provided by management, it is expected BEBERUNAINEE - Bt
that the lender will not exercise its rights to demand BERATEIHEERKETORE
repayment. The expected cash flows with reference o BEE T2 FTH RN
to the schedule of repayments set out in the loan & EHREREWT :

agreements are as follows:

Between Between

Less than 1and?2 2and5 Over
1 year years years 5 years Total
HK$ BT —FR  -E@FR  ZELER BRLE b
As at 31 March 2023 RZBZZ#ZB=+-H
Bank borrowings RITEE 4,302,707 1296240 3,549,966 4,180,062 13,328,975
As at 31 March 2022 RZBZZ#ZB=+-H
Bank borrowings BITEE 6,267,854 1,263,924 3,791,772 5015493 16,339,043
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to REAERER  KREBHBEZARE
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern AEBFELENR S #MAKRE
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits TR B3R - A E A F 2540 B & R A
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital o ARGREREERERIUBEE
structure to reduce the cost of capital. VNN
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group AEENAEREAREE  KEETH
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, BRRRERNORE  ARRREE
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets K BITHRS L EEE R DER -

to reduce debit.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 UEREE(E)

Total capital of the Group is calculated as total equity plus
total borrowings (including bank borrowings and lease
liabilities). The gearing ratio of the Group was as follows:

AEENRBERTZA R NBESR
(BRBTEERBEAB)FE K
SEMNBERABLENT

As at 31 March

R=A=+—8

2023 2022
HK$ BT —EC= T F
Bank borrowings (Note 20) RITEE (H:#20) 12,071,835 15,090,311
Lease liabilities (Note 10) HEREMZE10) 1,888,227 845,435
Total borrowings BIEE 13,960,062 15,935,746
Total equity R 118,673,694 101,816,436
Total capital BmENR 132,633,756 117,752,182
Gearing ratio EAXBBLHE 10.5% 13.5%

This section explains the judgements and estimates made in
determining the fair values of the financial instruments that
are recognised and measured at fair value in the financial
statements. To provide an indication about the reliability
of the inputs used in determining fair value, the Group
has classified its financial instruments into the three levels
prescribed under the accounting standards:

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets (such as publicly traded derivatives and equity
securities) is based on quoted market prices at the end of the
reporting period.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter
derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques which
maximise the use of observable market data and rely as
little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If all significant
inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the
instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

All of the Group’s financial assets at FVPL were classified into
Level 3 as they do not have a quoted price in active markets.
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and out
of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end of the reporting
period. There were no transfers between level 1, 2 and 3
during the year.

In terms of valuation techniques, the Group uses a variety
of methods depending on the availability of information and
makes assumptions that are based on market conditions
existing at the end of each reporting period. Independent
external valuer has been involved in determining the fair
values, when appropriate. The unlisted preference shares
were valued with reference to recent subscription price
of the investee’s equity interests, which is a significant
unobservable input. Other unobservable inputs include
movement of market comparable, probability of conversion
scenario, risk-free interest rates and expected volatility.
Other unlisted investment was valued using discounted
cashflow method, in which the discount rate is considered the
significant unobservable input. Higher discount rate will result
in lower fair value.

Other than the financial assets at FVPL, the carrying amounts
of the Group’s financial instruments carried at amortised cost
approximate their fair values as at the reporting date since
either the instrument are with short maturities or the interest
rate is close to the current market rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the

future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,

seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and

assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within

the next financial year are discussed below.

(a)

(b)

Construction contracts

The Group reviews and revises the estimates of contract
revenue, contract costs, variation orders and contract claims
prepared for each construction contract as the contract
progresses. Budgeted construction costs are prepared by
the management on the basis of quotations from time to time
provided by the major subcontractors, suppliers or vendors
involved and the experience of the management. In order
to keep the budget accurate and up-to-date, management
conducts periodic reviews of the budgets of contracts by
comparing the budgeted amounts to the actual amounts
incurred. Such significant estimates may have an impact on
the profit recognised in each year.

Impairment of trade and retention receivables and
contract assets

The Group follows the guidance of HKFRS 9 to determine
when trade and retention receivables and contract assets
are impaired. Significant judgement is exercised on the
assessment of the risk of default and expected credit losses
from each customer. In making the judgement, management
considers a wide range of factors such as results of follow-up
procedures, customer payment trends including subsequent
payments, customers’ financial positions and expected future
change of credit risks, including consideration of factors such
as general economy measure, changes in macro-economic
indicators, etc. Details of assumptions and inputs used are
discussed in Note 3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

N

4

8 B B ® x KM ==

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(Continued)

(c) Income taxes
The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and
Macau. Significant judgement is required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax
audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the current and deferred tax assets
and liabilities in the period in which such determination is
made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

m e M B % x KM &
REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION WER D BER
Year ended 31 March
2023 2022
HK$ BT —E=-= —ZE-=
Flooring H AT R 143,014,181 96,974,433
Ancillary services I & B 7% 27,101,784 12,338,332
Sales of materials HEMR 489,112 1,103,261
170,605,077 110,416,026
Timing of revenue recognition: o 5 B R A B i 1
At a point in time A I B 489,112 1,103,261
Over time BE B R 170,115,965 109,312,765
170,605,077 110,416,026

The Executive Directors have been identified as the chief
operating decision-maker of the Group who review the Group’s
internal reporting in order to assess performance and allocate
resources. The directors regard the Group’s business as a single
operating segment and review consolidated financial statements
accordingly.

The Group operates primarily in Hong Kong with substantially all
its non-current assets located and capital expenditure incurred in
Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, revenue was earned from
customers located in Hong Kong and Macau of HK$168,199,727
(2022: HK$104,873,279) and HK$2,405,350 (2022: HK$5,542,747),
respectively.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, no customers contributed over
10% of the total revenue of the Group. Revenue from customers
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2023 was as follows:

WTEFCRAS/AEENEIELERR

RO AREMASRERAFERR
RAERER EZRAKENEBRR—

BEEDBAERUFHGAHHRE -

ASETBRRBELERY HETHAE
FIRBEENRBERETHEELRAX
REBEL -

BE-_T-_=F=R=+—-HLFE"
AR EERRPTRE B AT R A s
2 Bl 5168,199,727# T (=& = =
104,878,279/ 7T) }2,405,350/%8 7t (=&
T HF 15542747 TT) ©

BHEZZT--_F=-A=+—HLEE I
BXPERASEARZEB10% NEE
“E_ZHE-A=1-BLFEERAR
Bk EEB10%MEPMERMRENT :

2023
HK$ BT —E=-=

Customer A ZPEA 20,655,289
Customer B ®FB 18,877,545

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED BB X :2 &£ B & B 2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= 8 B B ® xr KM ==

6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 6 WE BERZE
Furniture and Leasehold Motor

Buildings equipment improvements vehicles Total
HK$ B BT GARZE HENEEE HE @t
At 1 April 2021 RZE-—-FmA-AH
Cost AR 9,808,052 4,596,345 1,620,798 2,060,286 18,085,481
Accumulated depreciation ZiE (1,234,762) (3,660,947) (1,575,776) (2,058,203) (8,529,688)
Net book amount EEFE 8,573,290 935,398 45,022 2,083 9,555,793

Year ended 31 March 2022 BE-_ZT-—F

SA=1t-BLLEE

Opening net book amount HREFE 8,573,290 935,398 45,022 2,083 9,555,793
Additions RE 3,646,700 388,263 266,470 - 4,301,433
Depreciation e (420,812) (578,676) (111,639) (2,083) (1,113,210)
Exchange differences EREE = 147 = - 147
Closing net book amount HREEFE 11,799,178 745,132 199,853 = 12,744,163
At 31 March 2022 R-B-—f=A=+-H

Cost KA 13,454,752 4,984,879 1,887,268 2,060,286 22,387,185
Accumulated depreciation ZiiTE (1,655,574) (4,239,747) (1,687,415) (2,060,286) (9,643,022)
Net book amount RREE 11,799,178 745,132 199,853 = 12,744,163

Year ended 31 March 2023 ~ HZE-E=-=%

ZA=+-HIFE

Opening net book amount R FE 11,799,178 745,132 199,853 - 12,744,163
Additions RE - 227,126 = 112,500 339,626
Disposal HE - (3,539) - - (3,539)
Depreciation e (452,104) (465,085) (88,823) (25,000) (1,031,012)
Exchange differences ERER - (306) - - (306)
Closing net book amount BRERFE 11,347,074 503,328 111,030 87,500 12,048,932
At 31 March 2023 RZE-=F=f=+-H

Cost AR 13,454,752 5,201,010 1,887,268 2,172,786 22,715,816
Accumulated depreciation ZHITE (2,107,678) (4,697,682) (1,776,238) (2,085,286)  (10,666,884)
Net book amount FHFE 11,347,074 503,328 111,030 87,500 12,048,932
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2023, depreciation of
HK$401,811 (2022: HK$535,985) and HK$629,201 (2022:
HK$577,225) were charged to “cost of sales” and “general
and administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, respectively.

Refer to Note 20 for information on non-current assets pledged as
security by the Group.

INVESTMENT ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY
METHOD

Interests in an associate

Set out below is the information of the associate of the Group as
at 31 March 2023 and 2022. The share capital of the associate
consists solely of ordinary shares. The country of incorporation
of registration is also its principal place of business, and the
proportion of ownership interest is the same as the proportion of
voting rights held by the Group.

Place of business/

8 B B & x K &

M- BERSE (E)
RBEE-_E-_=F=A=+—"HIFE "
FE401,811B L (ZF == F : 535,985/
JT) }629,2013 7T (ZE = Z 4 : 577,225
BIL)IoRlBGE 2HERERTHHEE
PO R [ — M RATERB 2 | H1B% ©

EEALEERAZERDEENER
F2RME20 -

EREREARZRE

NEE DR 2w

TERIEINAEE -—BHEARRZEZ E
i&_;::i—ﬂ—+*ﬂm§ﬂ
R A AR RAER T BRAEK ﬁﬁﬁ
MY BREEFELEMEER  MAE
B 558 ) FT B e R 2a b O O B A I
A o

country of % of ownership interest  Measurement Carrying amount
Name of entity incorporation 2023 2022 method Principal activity 2023 2022
E5Y/ FEREE% REE
BEEH AMRYER —B-ZF —F-CF HEBRA IBEH i S
% % HK$ HK$
BT BT
Carful Group Limited (“CGL") Hong Kong 40% 40% Equity method  Provision of 3,788,243 4,812,006
car-sharing
platforms in
Hong Kong
ENSEARLA(ENEE)) &% 3003 ERARMENE
R

On 21 February 2022, a subsidiary of the Group acquired 40%
equity interests in CGL at a consideration HK$5,000,000.

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED BB X :2 &£ B & B 2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= 8 B B ® xr KM ==

7 INVESTMENT ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY 7 FREZREIARZEE (E)
METHOD (Continued)

The tables below provide summarised financial information for TR ZBEDNRNTEER - FTHE
the associate. The information disclosed reflects the amounts BB R R A AR B EE = A ) RO B 7 sk R
presented in the financial statements of the relevant associate and 2IMEHE  MIERAEEEENESE -

not the Group’s share of those amounts.

Summarised balance sheet EEARERME 31 March 2023 31 March 2022
—E-= —E-C

HKS$ BT EAEr=E =A=+-—-H
Current assets MEEE

Cash and cash equivalents HeRBELEEY 887,574 715,908

Other current assets H b8 & 231,687 1,252,648
Total current assets mMBEERE 1,119,261 1,968,556
Non-current assets FEMENE E 134,390 828,396
Current liabilities mEAE 813,074 497,373
Non-current liabilities ErRHEE 115,374 414,968
Net assets EEFE 325,203 1,884,611
Reconciliation to carrying REEYE:

amounts:
Net assets at the beginning of the R BT EE R4, /U B HA

financial year/acquisition date MEEFE 1,884,611 2,354,595
Loss for the year/period FRN/EHNER (2,559,408) (469,984)
Other reserve H o & 1,000,000 -
Closing net assets HARKREFEE 325,203 1,884,611
Group’s share in% REEGL% 40% 40%
Group's share in HK$ AEBE L AB TR 130,081 753,844
Goodwill EES 3,658,162 4,058,162
Carrying amount REE 3,788,243 4,812,006
Revenue g 100,306 778,706
Depreciation and amortisation e K (438,193) (387,334)
Interest expense FBEFHX (26,738) (17,146)
Loss for the year/period FR/HAEE 2,559,408 469,984
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENT IN AN INSURANCE CONTRACT

The Group invests in key management life insurance contract,
which contains both investment and insurance elements, with a
director of the Group as the insured person.

Investment in a key management life insurance contract was
arranged with a major financial institution in Hong Kong, which the
directors believe are of high credit quality.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the carrying amount of the
investment in an insurance contract is denominated in US dollar
(“UsD”).

Movement of the Group’s investment in a key management life
insurance contract is as follows:

8 B B & x K &

RRBENZRE
AEER-DIEEREASRRANLZ
REBSRERFRRKD  XRA/BEE
E-REZ-

TEEBEASRRAOTIAEE M
ECRMBBRE MESHEARBAS
EEE%x-

E_=FR-_FT-_—_F=A=+—H"
%@amz&ﬁmﬁﬁﬁu%ﬁﬁi
DEEEE

Sl 23t

REERNEE
WEFHMT

EEBASRRANZIRE

2023 2022
HK$ BT —B-=F —E=-=
At 1 April WA —H 1,302,811 =
Addition i - 1,413,262
Changes in cash surrender value  R&RREEEH 34,018 (122,240)
Exchange differences [ 5, =58 3,756 11,789
At 31 March R=A=+—H 1,340,585 1,302,811

Refer to Note 20 for information on non-current assets pledged as
security by the Group.

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED BB X :2 &£ B & B 2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n

N

8 B % & & B =

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR
LOSS

9

URFEFABEEZEREE

As at 31 March

R=B=+-8H
2023 2022

HKS T —E_-= —E-—
Non-Current asset ERBEE
Unlisted preference shares FEMBER 2,415,393 -
Current asset nBEE
Convertible promissory note AEREA Y EE 4,058,279 -

6,473,672 =

Movement of the Group’s financial assets at FVPL for the year
ended 31 March 2023 is as follows:

AEBBE-_T-=F=A=1+—HBItHF
EURATFEFABRZERMEENE LI
T

Unlisted Convertible
preference promissory

shares note Total
¥t AEHR
HK$ BT BER A EE Bt
At 1 April 2022 RZE-__FMA—H = = =
Additions i 2,355,000 3,934,600 6,289,600

Net fair value gains — unrealised
Exchange differences N ZEE

As 31 March 2023

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 3R
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51,337 118,150 169,487
9,056 5,529 14,585

2,415,393 4,058,279 6,473,672




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PAN

8 M % ® R K &

10 LEASES 10 S

As at As at
31 March 31 March
2023 2022
R-Z—= NZE-_—F
HK$ BT =A=+-H =A=+—H

Right-of-use assets EREEE
Leasehold land HELH 24,127,880 25,119,422
Properties leases MERE 1,412,671 518,957
Motor vehicles 58 583,236 294,720
26,123,787 25,938,099

Lease liabilities HEAE

Current nE 749,794 469,453
Non-current ELnE) 1,138,433 375,982
1,888,227 845,435

The right-of-use assets represent the Group’s rights to use
underlying leasehold land, leased premises, motor vehicles
and photocopiers under lease arrangements over the lease
terms from 2 to 30 years. They are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease
liabilities.

Refer to Note 20 for information on non-current assets
pledged as security by the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, additions to the
right-of-use assets were HK$1,924,888 (2022: HK$761,416).

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED BB X :2 &£ B & B 2

FREEERASBEREREZH
H2E0EMHEEHNERAEEE
T MERM  TERFEEME
Ko ZEEBERMARRAFTERR
AOREBENE YREMEEAR
ZEMGEBELRE -

BRARBECERZERDEENE
#t - 2 M 20

BE_T_=—H#=B=+—HIF
- HigEREEEA1,924,88878 7T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= 8 B B ® xr KM ==

10 LEASES (Continued) 10 #HE (&)

During the year 31 March
BE=ZA=t-HLEE

2023 2022
HK$ BT =H=E —T__F
Depreciation of right-of-use assets HCREEERE (Hit22)
(Note 22)
Leasehold land HELH 991,542 991,542
Leased properties HEWME 499,127 409,697
Motor vehicles i} 243,531 67,414
Photocopiers AR - 21,666
1,734,200 1,490,319
Expenses related to short-term leases HEMEENREEZRAY
payments (Note 22) (Hfit22) 323,969 485,255
Interest expense (included in finance MERY GTAPBEA)
costs) (Note 24) (Btet24) 41,125 27,848
During the year ended 31 March 2023, depreciation of BE_T-_=—F=H=1—HItF
right-of-use assets of HK$267,545 (2022: HK$177,098) B BREEETE2675458 T (=
and HK$1,466,655 (2022: HK$1,313,221) were charged to T —F:177,098/57T) &1,466,655
“cost of sales” and “general and administrative expenses” B (ZEZ—%:1,313 2218 L) E
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, DRIRNEGRE ZERE R [HEK A
respectively. RI—BRITERAZ ] H Nk -
During the year ended 31 March 2023, the total cash outflow HE-_Z-_=ZF=-A=+—HIF
for leases was HK$1,057,190 (2022: HK$989,129). B HENRSRE#E%EAE1,057,190

BIL(ZEZ 24 : 989,129/ ) ©

106 | ANNUAL REPORT 2023 3k



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10 LEASES (Continued)

11

(c)

The Group’s leasing activities and how these are
accounted for

The Group leases warehouses, motor vehicles and
photocopiers. Rental contracts of warehouses, motor vehicles
and photocopiers are typically made in accordance with the

lease terms as stipulated in the rental contracts.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the
lessor. With the exception of leasehold land, leased assets
may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Termination options
Termination options are included in some of the leased
properties across the Group. These are used to maximise

8 B B & x K &

10 #HE (&)

(c) AEENEERBREAKRLR
AKEHBRE AERFHK R
B RERTHOBNEES N KRR
BHEROTIANERETL

MBS ERER X8 EEZ TR
RS M - R EARBNRESR
EMERERN HEHILERTE
ERRE -REEL I HEEE
NMEREE R ER

(d) Ri-EERE
AEBENETHENERBR SR ILER
B ZERREARERSEERR

operational flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in B AEBEEEEAEELERAE
the Group's operations. 23
INVENTORIES 7E
As at 31 March
R=A=+-—-H
2023 2022
HK$ BT —E=F —F-—
Flooring materials 37 88 S5 M R 11,746,261 22,023,131
Waterproofing materials B 7K 7 2,842,920 3,454,692
Specialised texture painting BELIBRR 68,621 261,486
14,657,802 25,739,309

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the costs of inventories

recognised as expense and included in “cost of sales” amounted
to HK$64,946,483 (2022: HK$37,089,884) (Note 22).

During the year ended 31 March 2023, reversal of provision for

obsolete inventories of HK$159,627 (2022: provision for obsolete
inventories of HK$39,088) was made (Note 22). The Group also
wrote off inventories with no resaleable value amounting to
HK$333,143 (2022: HK$240,764) (Note 22).

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED BB X :2 &£ B & B 2

REBE-_Z-_=F=-A=+—HUIEE"
ERRABAITAAHERELAINEER

X 78 164,946,483 L (Z T - —

37,089,884/% ) (KizE22) °

BE-_Z-_=F=-A=+—HLEFE &
BREFEELTRERE159,62747T (=
Eo—F: REFER#ES9,088% L) (B
#H22) c REEME T BEHEEENTE
333,143 7T (=T = — 4 : 240,764/ 1)
(BfzE22) °

[
L\
ol

107



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= & B B | x K =

12 TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES

12 BRESRIREURES

As at 31 March

R=B=+-—H

2023 2022

HK$ BT —E-=E -
Trade receivables FEWE ZBRH 49,673,399 36,966,621
Retention receivables EUWRE & 20,111,526 15,302,335
69,784,925 52,268,956
Less: provision for impairment B ORERE (7,694,120) (6,949,490)
Trade and retention receivables, net EWE SRR R ERREFE 62,090,805 45,319,466

The credit period granted to trade customers other than for
retention receivables is within 30 days. The terms and conditions in
relation to the release of retentions varies from contract to contract,
which may be subject to practical completion, the expiry of the
defect liability period or a pre-agreed time period. The Group does
not hold any collateral as security.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date is

RYESEF (RURBRKIN) NEEH
RB0B A - BRAMER R E & 0 R AR
RERAME  JRAGRTERTT - F
ERERAEABENRRMNE - XAKH
TEFETMERRE/ER -

FEWE ZEFERNER B LKk D10

as follows: o
As at 31 March
R=A=+-—H
2023 2022
HK$ BT —E-= —EF-=
1-30 days 1£30H 14,449,914 8,511,547
31-60 days 31£60H 8,810,908 7,709,595
61-90 days 61290H 2,493,521 4,025,856
Over 90 days BiE90H 23,919,056 16,719,623
49,673,399 36,966,621
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12 TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES (Continued)

In the consolidated statement of financial position, retention
receivables were classified as current assets based on operating
cycle. The ageing of retention receivables based on invoice date is

= & B B | & KM &

12 BURESRIREURES (B)

EFEAMBMART  BURRESERE
ERHEIBRARDEE BERETE
REZHHHORKREDOT

as follows:

As at 31 March

R=B=+-—H
2023 2022
HK$ BT —E-= —E-F
Within 1 year 1R 9,725,685 5,742,864
Between 1 to 5 years 1554 10,385,841 9,559,471
20,111,526 15,302,335

The carrying amounts of trade and retention receivables
approximate their fair values due to their short maturities.

Trade and retention receivables are denominated in the following

BUWEZERRERGFE SHREHAE
B AtHAREEEEQTERS -

EUWE Z R R ERRE S A TG

currencies: 8 :
As at 31 March
W=B=+-H
2023 2022
HK$ BT —E-=F —E -
HK$ BT 65,326,386 46,472,288
MOP BT 4,458,539 5,796,668
69,784,925 52,268,956

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected credit
loss allowance for all trade and retention receivables. Details of
assumptions and inputs used are discussed in Note 3.1(c).

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED BB X :2 &£ B & B 2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= PAN
AN =

M B O® R M

12 TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Movements on the provision for impairment of trade and retention
receivables are as follows:

B :

12 BRESRIREURES (&)
FEUE 5 B 5% I FE W R B

SHRER B

2023 2022
HK$ BT —E-=E —E-=
As at 1 April AEA—A 6,949,490 4,583,989
Impairment loss on trade and FEWE SRR RERRE €8
retention receivables REEE 744,630 2,365,501
As at 31 March R=A=+—8H 7,694,120 6,949,490
13 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 13 FEMAFEREMEWFIE
As at 31 March
R=B=+-—8
2023 2022
HK$ BT —E-= T F
Prepayments B RIE 2,463,794 1,989,262
Other receivables H e W 5k 851,226 734,813
3,315,020 0,724,075

The carrying amounts of the Group’s prepayments and other
receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

AR FUR &AM ERFANEREE

AT E®BEHE

As at 31 March

W=B=+-—H
2023 2022
HK$ BT —EC-=F —E_—
HK$ BT 2,792,196 2,343,501
MOP BT 485 485
Others Htb 522,339 380,089
3,315,020 2,724,075

The carrying amounts of prepayments and other receivables
approximate their fair values.
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N (=

PAN

M OB O® KR KB R

14 CONTRACT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) 14 GHNEE/(BF)

As at 31 March

R=A=+-—-H
2023 2022

HK$ BT —E-=fF g

Contract assets ANEE 9,905,866 6,580,955
Less: provision for impairment B ORERE (60,570) (56,837)
9,845,296 6,524,118

As at 31 March

R=A=+—H
2023 2022
HK$ BT 2= —ToCF
Contract liabilities EREE (14,057,731) (5,415,056)

The contract assets are primarily related to the Group’s rights to
consideration for work completed and not billed because the rights
are conditional on the Group’s future performance in achieving
specified milestones at the reporting date. The contract assets are
transferred to trade receivables when the rights for consideration
become unconditional. The Group typically reclassifies contract
assets to trade receivables on the date of acceptance reports
issued by the customers and invoices issued to them when such
right of collection becomes unconditional other than the passage
of time.

The contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress and have
substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade and
retention receivables. The contract assets are related to contracts
which are still in progress and the payment is not due.

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED BB X :2 &£ B & B 2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

N

14

A

& M % | xR K =

CONTRACT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) (Continued)
Movements on the provision for impairment of contract assets are

14

ANEE/ (BB (&)
ANBERERBOESINT :

as follows:

2023 2022
HK$ BT —E-=E —E-=
As at 1 April RMA—H 56,837 17,845
Impairment loss on contract assets EHEEREERE 3,733 38,992
As at 31 March R=A=+—~H 60,570 56,837

Details of assumptions and inputs used are discussed in Note
3.1(c).

(a) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities

The following table shows the revenue recognised during
the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 related to
carried-forward contract liabilities.

PR 3 B 86 A BB #3408 T3 3E3.1(c)

BEHEANEERIANNE
TRHEJINBE_Z_=ZFRK_F
ZEZA=T-RIEFEREES
B ERER R Wt o

(a)

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1T—HILEE

2023 2022
HK$ BT —E-= —E--
Revenue recognised that was STAFAIEHNBERERE
included in the contract liabilities BRI
balance at beginning of the year 5,001,574 3,111,338
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resulting from fixed-priced long-term construction contracts.

14 CONTRACT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) (Continued) 14 EHEE/(8E) (&)
(b) Unsatisfied performance obligations (b) REMENEE
The following table shows unsatisfied performance obligation TRINTEEERRHBRESNELE

HREKRBHAE

As at 31 March

R=A=+—H
2023 2022
HK$ BT —E-=F —F-C
Aggregate amount of the transaction A HTEREKNELELL
price of construction contracts that B S {ERE4E
are partially or fully unsatisfied 87,034,478 59,964,618

Management expects that the transaction prices regarding
the unsatisfied contracts as at 31 March 2023 will be
recognised as revenue by referencing to the progress
towards completion of the contract activities.

All other contracts are for periods of one year or less. As
permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to
these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

EHERF NR-_T_=F=A
St RBEBRERSAONRHER
KH2ETKA A EEER SR

N/

ZS o
Im

FIAREMEAHR—FRERDR -
REBRBEREEEASHEAAG
NTEEZFERERSANIHERL
REE -
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N

15

8 B % & & B =

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

RERRESEEY

As at 31 March

R=ZB=+-—H
2023 2022
HK$ BT —E=F —F-—
Cash at bank and on hand (Note (a)) RITRFHERE (fiF () 28,009,576 23,869,941
Short-term bank deposits (Note (b)) RERITER (B 7E (b)) 6,400,000 =
Cash and cash equivalents HeRHREZEY 34,409,576 23,869,941
Maximum exposure to credit risk FAENT=EERR 34,375,336 23,842,100

(a) The Group’s cash at bank is mainly deposited with banks in Hong

Kong and Macau, all of which had a maturity of not more than three

months. Cash at bank earned interest at floating rates based on daily

bank deposit rates.

(b) As at 31 March 2023, the effective interest rate on short-term bank

deposits was 3.4% per annum. The short-term bank deposits had a

maturity of three months.

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following

(a) AEBENHRTHRSTIEFHREE KRN
HIR1T - A RITHR S M EIH B 85 T8
B=EA - ROTRSENE HRITFERMN

EFBAE 8 -

(b) RZT=Z=F=A=+—H8 BHEITHE
RHEBRFIRABTE34% - RHBITER

MEHMBMA=EA -

Be kB EFBYNATIERE:

currencies:
As at 31 March
R=A=+-—H
2023 2022
HK$ BT —E2=F —E-=
HK$ BT 30,968,265 21,896,576
Others Hith 3,441,311 1,973,365
34,409,576 23,869,941

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents approximate

their fair values.
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16 SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES
(a)

Share capital and premium

= PaN
Fia 8 [=]

M OB O® KR KB R

16 BAKfFfE

(a)

RAERRE

Number Nominal value
of ordinary of ordinary
shares shares
HK$ BT EBERHE EBREE
Authorised: ETE
Ordinary shares at HK$0.01 each BREE.018 T B
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 and WRZ-ZZE-_—FWNA—H ZT=_=
2023 kZB==%=R=+—H 2,000,000,000 20,000,000
Number Nominal value
of ordinary of ordinary Share
shares shares premium
HK$ BT EBRHE EBREE igvipy
Issued and fully paid: BEETRAR
Ordinary shares at SREE0.OIB T LB
HK$0.01 each
At 1 April 2021, 31 March  W=-Z-_—FWMA—H -
2022 and 2023 —EFR
—E-=F=ZH=+—H 600,000,000 6,000,000 52,482,955
(b) Capital reserve (b) ERFME

Capital reserve as presented in the consolidated statement of

RZEZ=FRZFT__F=H

financial position as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 represented
the shares contribution made by shareholders at nominal
value as part of the reorganisation before listing.

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED BB X :2 &£ B & B 2
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16 SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

16 BRARGEE (&)

The Group operated an equity-settled share-based

compensation plan, under which the Group received services

from Mr. Yip Kong Lok (“Mr. Yip”), a then consultancy service

provider and the executive director of the Group. Under the

share-based compensation plan, Mr. Yip provided technical

and marketing consultancy services to the Group in return

for share options to acquire a 30% equity interest of Sage

City at nominal consideration. The options were granted on

18 December 2003 and became exercisable on 31 March

2012, before being exercised on 14 August 2015. The amount

in shareholder contribution represents the fair value of

services received, the valuation of which was performed by

an independent qualified valuer using an income approach

by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments

granted. The share-based compensation expenses for such
services were recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income from the date when the options

were granted on 18 December 2003 until the date when the

non-market vesting conditions were met and the options

became exercisable on 31 March 2012.

17 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against tax liabilities
and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal

17

AEBRA LR EEURG AER
ZHERE Bt AEEBEHEKA
BRREREMERAEERNTESH
ERgr s ([EA4]) BEURK - 18
BUAROAERNEERTS  Ex4
A 7N 62 B 42 ¢ R 0T I e SH R R AR 7% -
ERE®R BALEREER TR
BESage City230%% # ) B8 % 42 -
HEBBRER_TZE=FF+=A+AN
AEE RZE—=—F=R=+—
B&#AMTE YR _T—HEN\A
+NBETE - RELENSEAM
BEERBOATLE  EEEDABYL
BERGEME2ZERNERTIA
B AT EEA RS EETT - BRZRB
THBUABRGAERNBERIEA
RZBZE=F+-A+\BAELER
BEBRBEEXFETHEEENSEB K
1#5%&5“?(%%@”& i’«%ﬁﬁ ' ,ﬁ

RATIE °

EIEFT B
EREEARTENE NN IAR E SRR
BRERHE
IR B A R -

UREEZR SRR —
BIATSEEHAEEERRA

authority. BEAAEE -
Movements in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) are as follows: ERKRBEEE,/ (ABE)NEFHUT :
2023 2022

HK$ BT —F_= e
As at 1 April RUA—H 100,423 86,998
Charged to the consolidated statement of 44 2 E R B (#:25)

comprehensive income (Note 25) 103,467 13,425
As at 31 March R=A=+—8 203,890 100,423
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17 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued) 17
The movement in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) during the year,

EIEFREH (8)
A RN BRI BLAER R H AR

without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within REBERT  EANEEHBEEE/(AE)

the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows: BEIMT ¢
Deferred tax assets: EERBEE
Decelerated tax
depreciation
HK$ BT HERIEINE
At 1 April 2021 RZE-_—FMA—H 2,087
Charged to the consolidated statement of  R&RA & E KR XN
comprehensive income (1,212)
As at 31 March 2022 RZE-_—_F=RA=+—H 875
Credited to the consolidated statement of R4 4 2 E Uz &EA
comprehensive income 6,888
At 31 March 2023 RZZE_=F=HA=+—H 7,763
Deferred tax liabilities: RERBEEE:

Accelerated tax
depreciation

HK$ BT MERBIIE T
At 1 April 2021 RZZE-_—FWA—H (89,085)
Charged to the consolidated statement of RE&AZERBERNHB

comprehensive income (12,213)
At 31 March 2022 RZEZZF=H=+—H (101,298)
Charged to the consolidated statement of A4 2 H R NB

comprehensive income (110,355)
At 31 March 2023 RZE-_=F=A=+—H (211,653)

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED BB X :2 &£ B & B 2
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N

18

8 B % & & B =

TRADE PAYABLES

The ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice date is as

18 ENEZRERX

BNESEFERERBBORE DT W

follows: N
As at 31 March
R=B=+-—H
2023 2022
HK$ BT —E-=F —E=-—
1-30 days 1£30H 7,570,814 11,232,316
31-60 days 31260H 5,409,186 3,290,333
61-90 days 61290H 1,632,687 3,718,641
Over 90 days BiE90H 7,391,189 4,003,475
22,003,876 22,244,765

Trade payables are denominated in the following currencies:

BNESRAATIINEEEE

As at 31 March

R=B=+—8H
2023 2022
HK$ BT —E-=F —E_=
HK$ BT 21,373,165 22,115,255
MOP BT 591,644 129,510
Others HAd 39,067 -
22,003,876 22,244,765
The carrying amounts of trade payables approximate their fair ERNESERFAEHAZE At EERER
values due to their short maturities. BEEAEANFEES -
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19 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

= & B B | & KM &

19 BFEARHEMENKIE
As at 31 March

R=B=t+-H
2023 2022
HK$ BT —E-=f% i
Accrued expenses e X 2,833,211 2,126,168
Other payables H Ath & 5 R IE = 1,000,000
2,833,211 3,126,168

Accruals and other payables are denominated in the following

st ER L AMENFAATNERE:

currencies:

As at 31 March

R=A=+-—H
2023 2022
HK$ BT —E-= —E-CF
HK$ BT 2,615,236 2,851,873
MOP BT 95,378 241,009
Others Hih 122,597 33,286
2,833,211 3,126,168

The carrying amounts of accruals and other payables approximate

their fair values.

i ERREMEMNSFRNREEREAR

FEEE -
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N

20

8 B % & & B =

BANK BORROWINGS 20 WRITEE
As at 31 March
KR=A=+—H
2023 2022
HK$ BT —BI=H g
Secured BHEA
- Bank borrowings which contain a - BEREREBRERNRITEE
repayable on demand clause 12,071,835 15,090,311

The fair values of bank borrowings approximate their carrying
amounts as the impact of discounting is not significant. As at 31
March 2023, the Group'’s effective interest rate for bank borrowings
was at a floating rate of 3.5% per annum (2022: 2.4% per annum).

The bank borrowings due for repayment, based on the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements, are as follows:

HRERNYETTEN  BAOBENA
TEHEEREERSE R=ZZ==F=A
=t+—B AKERTEENERMNEE
FEEEIS%(ZB_—F  BE24%) ©

BESRBAFBROBTERAS BT
BEOEIBEMT :

As at 31 March

R=A=+—H

2023 2022

HK$ BT —E-= —EF-=
Within 1 year 1ER 4,031,688 6,028,404
Between 1 to 2 years 1226 1,065,018 1,053,797
Between 2 to 5 years 2&E5F 3,056,732 3,299,357
Over 5 years HBIB5EF 3,918,397 4,708,753
12,071,835 15,090,311
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20 BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)
As at 31 March 2023, total term and revolving banking
facilities of HK$26,571,835 (2022: HK$27,590,311) of which
approximately HK$14,500,000 was unutilised (2022: approximately
HK$12,500,000). These facilities were secured by:

(i) certain assets included in property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets with carrying amounts of HK$9,710,311
and HK$24,127,880 (2022: HK$10,095,608 and
HK$25,119,422), respectively;

(ii) investment in an insurance contract with a carrying amount of
HK$1,340,585 (2022: HK$1,302,811); and

(iii) corporate guarantee provided by the Company.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has not breached any of the

covenants of the banking facilities. The bank borrowings are
denominated in HKS.

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED BB X :2 &£ B & B 2

20

= & B B | & KM &

RITHE ()
R-Z-_=F=ZA=+—H THLER
RITEE#REH265718358 L (T -
% : 27,590,311 L)  E A 414,500,000
EILREE (ZE == : #J12,500,000%
TT) o ZEREE TR TERR

() EAVE BEERREBENFERAESR
ENETEE HEEBEDAA
9,710,311 T % 24,127,880/ 7T
(ZZ = =% :10,095,608% T &
25,119,422/ 7T )

(i R"RBELYzZEE HEEEA
1,340,585 L (Z & = =
1,302,81187) + &

(i) ANABIREHDEER -

—EC=HF=ZA=+—H FAKEYR
EREMBTHRERY - RITEENET
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N

21

8 B % & & B =

OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS, NET 21 Ht AR HEAMKEFE
Year ended 31 March
BEZA=T-HLFE
2023 2022
HK$ BT —B-=F g
Government grants (Note) BUS R (M12E) 1,841,216 502,891
Net fair value gains on financial assets at A TEGFABRZZEHEEN
FVPL - unrealised NFEWRRFE-RER 169,487 =
Changes in cash surrender value of RiRBE A2 R E RS RRF
investment in an insurance contract BEZL 34,018 (122,240)
Gain from disposal of property, plantand  HEWE « BE R HE 2 iz
equipment 186,461 =
Service income (Note 30) AR WA (F77#30) 96,000 -
Others Hitb 21,120 37,000
2,348,302 417,651
Note: The government grants for the year ended 31 March 2023 mainly Wit - BEZF_=F=A=1—BIFENK

represented the subsidies provided by Government of Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region under the Employment Support
Scheme arising from the novel coronavirus-2019 pandemic
(“COVID-19") (2022: the subsidies provided by the Construction
Industry Council under the Approved Technical Talents Training
Programme). There are no unfulfilled conditions or other

contingencies attached to these grants.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 3R

R EZ ARE2019 R BB E R
& ( [2019BMHAER] ) BBRRTHE
BRRAREE S T RENHE (ZF

TIF REXEE

RIFRBA R EA

AIEt B A ARERE) - R ERALEM
ERGEF AR ERSEMREZR -
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= 8 B B | R KM &

22 EXPENSES BY NATURE 22 BEMEISINHAX
Expenses included in cost of sales and general and administrative TABEERAAR —RRITHRAYHE R
expenses are analysed as follows: SHWF

Year ended 31 March
BE=BA=1+—-HLEE

2023 2022
HK$ BT —EZ=F —E-—
Cost of materials used (Note 11) ERMBIRA (FiE11) 64,946,483 37,089,884
Subcontractor costs DBEEKAE 44,308,996 31,029,044
Employee benefit expenses (Note 23) RERAEL (#1223
— direct labour —HEST 5,084,926 4,639,648
— administrative staff - fTHET 18,498,279 14,914,886
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BERZETE (76)
equipment (Note 6) 1,031,012 1,113,210
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE (HiF10)
(Note 10) 1,734,200 1,490,319
Expenses related to short-term lease FHEHHEENTNAS
payments (Note 10) (Biat10) 323,969 485,255
Repair and maintenance expenses BIERKEERX 84,917 64,526
Motor vehicle expenses TERX 1,513,334 1,192,447
Auditor’s remuneration ZER B &
- audit services — ZE R 1,300,000 1,100,000
- non-audit services — ERERS 61,950 71,000
Write-off of inventories (Note 11) WHEEE HZE11) 333,143 240,764
(Reversal of)/provision for inventory MEFE (BE) B
obsolescence (Note 11) (Kizt11) (159,627) 39,088
Other expenses Hibk X 7,941,797 5,312,493
147,003,379 98,782,564

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED BB X :2 &£ B & B 2
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N

23

8 B % & & B =

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

23 EERANHEX

Year ended 31 March
BE=BA=1t—-HILLEE

2023 2022

HK$ BT —E-=E -
Wages, salaries, bonuses and allowances I #H& - ez 22,887,338 19,004,011
Pension cost - defined contribution scheme RING A - FREH 695,867 550,523
23,583,205 19,554,534

Companies within the Group in Hong Kong have participated
in the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance (the “MPF Scheme”), a defined
contribution scheme managed by an independent trustee.

Under the MPF Scheme, each of the Group companies and
its employees make monthly contributions to the scheme at a
minimum of 5% of the employee’s relevant income as defined
under the MPF Scheme, with the maximum mandatory contribution
by each of the Group companies and its employees limited to
HK$1,500 per month, and further contributions are voluntary.

The mandatory contributions are fully and immediately vested in
the employees as accrued benefits. The employees are entitled
to receive their entire voluntary contributions and 100% of the
Group’s employer voluntary contributions upon retirement or
leaving the Group after completing one year of service.

Any forfeited voluntary contributions made by the Group are
used to reduce the Group’s employer voluntary contributions.
There were no forfeited contributions (by employers on behalf of
employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in such
contributions) to offset existing contributions under the defined
contribution schemes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued)
Five highest paid individuals
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 include two directors
(2022: two) whose emoluments are reflected in Note 28. The
emoluments payable to the remaining three (2022: three)
individuals during the year ended 31 March 2023 are as follows:

PaN
=)

M OB O® KR KB R

Fia 8

23 EERABAX (E)

hTEREHFAL
REE-T-=F=fA=1+—-HILEE"
AEEFHERNARALTEERE (ZF
ZIE MB)EE  HEMERMHES .
REE-T-_=F=fA=1+—-HILEE"
ERBT=2(ZT2F: =%) ATH
HMmT

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=t-RLEFE

2023 2022

HK$ BT —EC-= —ECCF
Wages, salaries, bonuses and allowances I& %% eakEy 3,419,110 2,782,911
Pension cost — defined contribution scheme  R{R& R A — E X 2 EH 2 53,733 48,000
3,472,843 2,830,911

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

BRHEMNRATEE -

Number of individuals

AE
2023 2022
—EC-=fF —EF-—
Emolument band ¥ E
Nil - HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,000/& 7T 1 2
HK$1,000,000 - $1,500,000 1,000,000/ 7t £1,500,000/%8 7T 2 1
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M B O® R M

24 FINANCE COSTS, NET

24

B 7% B 2 R R
Year ended 31 March
BE=BA=1t—-HILLEE

2023 2022
HK$ BT —EC=fF —F-—
Finance income R TN
— Interest income on bank deposits — RITFEHFBWA 144,443 105
- Interest income on convertible — AERA R RN EWA
promissory note 179,162 =
_________ 823605 105
Finance costs B B R AR
~ Interest on bank borrowings — RITEEF B (470,586) (268,594)
- Finance charges on leases liabilities ~ — HE& &K ER (A:210)
(Note 10) (41,125) (27,848)
Lo e (296,442
Finance costs, net B R AN 5 5E (188,106) (296,337)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The amount of income tax expense charged to the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income represents:

Fia 8

8 B B & x K &

25 FEBEX
REAEHREROAERA S8

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+-HLEE

2023 2022
HK$ BT —BI=H —F-_-
Current income tax: ENEARR 1S3
- Hong Kong profits tax — BBNEH 3,903,867 1,680,852
— Under-provision in prior years — BEFEREBTE 169,535 47,946
4,073,402 1,728,798
Deferred income tax (Note 17) EIEFR{SH (MiF17) 103,467 13,425
Income tax expense FIEHAY 4,176,869 1,742,223
(i) Hong Kong profits tax (i) BBAEH

In accordance with the two-tiered profits tax regime, for the
subsidiary entitled to this benefit, Hong Kong profits tax was
calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2,000,000 and 16.5% on
the remaining balance of the estimated assessable profits for
the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022. For other Hong
Kong incorporated subsidiaries, Hong Kong profits tax was

calculated at 16.5%.

(i) Macau corporate income tax

Macau corporate income tax has been provided at the
applicable rate of 12% on the estimated assessable profit in
excess of MOP600,000 (approximately HK$583,000) of the

Group’s operations in Macau.

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED BB X :2 &£ B & B 2

REMNSHMARG  LEZBZEERN
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N

25

26

8 B % & & B =

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 25
The taxation on the Group's profit before income tax differs from

the theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average

tax rate applicable to the profit of the consolidated entities as
follows:

FrE#iE < (&)
REBEBRASHAGENNHBEERAER
RERE ARRE I8 A0S M 0 MN#E PO B R 5
EmEwmMENZENT

Year ended 31 March
HE=BA=1t—-HILLEE

2023 2022

HK$ BT —EC-=E —ET-=
Profit before income tax BR PR 15 158 Al ) 23,989,768 9,162,289
Tax calculated at applicable tax rates RERABEFTENIE 3,796,529 1,336,042
Income not subject to tax BARBIA (304,647) (85,902)
Expenses not deductible for taxation IR

purposes 545,452 524,866
Utilisation of previous unrecognised tax ~ BH Z AT ERRA 2 FHIEER

losses - (40,729)
Under-provision in prior years BAFEEERR 169,535 47,946
Tax deduction IR AR (30,000) (40,000)
Income tax expense FTefiF X 4,176,869 1,742,223

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2.17(b),
the Group has no unrecognised tax losses as at 31 March 2023
(2022: HK$Nil).

BREMRF2A7O)MEOSFTER A5 H
N-ZBE-=F=A=+—BIEREAL
MEBR(ZE__F: T%T) °

DIVIDEND 26 BE
Year ended 31 March
BE=-RA=t—-HLEE
2023 2022
HK$ BT —E-=F —FT-—
Proposed final dividend — HK1 cent per AR HK S — TR 1781
share (2022: HKO0.5 cent per share) (ZZE=-—%F : Bi0.5%1) 6,000,000 3,000,000

Dividend paid during the year ended 31 March 2023 was
HK$3,000,000 (2022: HK$6,000,000).

A final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31
March 2023 of HK1 cent per share (2022: HKO.5 cent per
share), amounting to a total dividend of HK$6,000,000 (2022:
HK$3,000,000), is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. These consolidated financial statement do not
reflect this dividend payable.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 3R
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27 EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF 27 ZAAR#EEAERGERER
THE COMPANY

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit BRERBFZEEFEZARARNRIER A
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted average FEME /R FIBR A B BT E BRI INETHE
number of ordinary shares in issue during the years. TE -

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=t-RLEFE

2023 2022

HK$ BT —2-= —T__F
Profit attributable to owners of the RRARER ARG

Company 19,116,886 7,463,648
Weighted average number of ordinary B 17 I i IR A DN #E 1 8

shares in issue 600,000,000 600,000,000
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) BREAREF (FBL) 3.19 1.24
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted BREFRMN T EBALRE BT L ERM
average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume BEAH(REMAEEH ST ARER)
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. Potential matE - B TRRE REEEBRALTBR
ordinary shares are dilutive when, and only when, their conversion HeREERANEIBAGHITZE - 1
to ordinary shares would decrease earnings per share. As at 31 TR =HRZFEF=RA=1+—H8H"
March 2023 and 2022, diluted earnings per share is equal to basic BRI EERESRG Bt ERESR
earnings per share as there were no dilutive potential shares. FESERTREREF -

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED BB X :2 &£ B & B 2
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28 BENEFITS AND

¥ Ow KR KM O

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF THE
HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP.622) AND

B (58622F) Fr i E MK 5R)

COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP.622G)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (equivalent to key management (a)

compensation)

The remuneration of the directors is set out below:

For the year ended 31 March 2023:

EXMe (HERETEEHE

EEMeEIMT

28 EEEANRFE (B2 AKRM (5622
B)EIMFERAFA (RBEESHNHER)

BE-Z-=F=ZA=1t—HLEFE:

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

HKS AT FRES (FRRALIIANBAALE) RENBARBE AARNNHS
Other
emoluments
paid or
receivable
in respect
of director’s
other services
in connection
with the
management
Employer's of the
contribution affairs of the
toa  Company or
Allowances  retirement its
Discretionary  and benefits benefit  subsidiary
Name Fees Salary bonuses in kind scheme  undertaking Total
REZMER
EEALAY
EWRAR
HENEH CEEESE
BER  GEEHH  HEBERD
i3] ne 5 hiEtd ENEH Eifin  EUHHe &3t
Executive Directors HEE
Mir. Kwong Chi Man s - 1,469,000 240,000 9,743 - - 1,718,743
M. Yip Kong Lok (Chief Executive Officer) EREEE (neH) - 1,378,000 220,000 41,001 18,000 - 1,657,001
M. Yip Wai Man (Note) EENEEWE) - 232,296 150,000 - 6,000 - 388,296
Independent non-executive Directors BUkynES
Ms. Yu Wan Wah Amparo REERL 128,000 - - - - - 126,000
. Law Pui Cheung BiERE 128,000 - - - - - 128,000
Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan RENRE 128,000 - - - - - 128,000
384,000 3,079,296 610,000 50,744 24,000 - 4,148,040

130 |
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28 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 28 #Z=FFRAZ (FHE QKM (F622
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF THE ) EIBIER AT (HEEEFRER)
HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP.622) AND B0 (£622E) B EHWIRE) (&)
COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP.622G)

(Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (equivalent to key management (a) EEMWE HERETEZEEEHH)
compensation) (Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2022:

BE_T_—_F-A=t-HALFE:

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person's services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

HKS ET FREZ(FRRAAAANBLDLE) RENEARBE AELIEHE
Other emoluments
paid or
receivable
in respect
of director's
other services
in connection with
the management
Employer's o the affairs of the
Allowances  contribution to Company or its
Discretionary  and benefits ~ a retirement subsidiary
Name Fees Salary bonuses inkind  benefit scheme undertaking Total
HESNANLAR
mEKEN  ARASENBAR
RER  HEELH  CXERSHORE
14 B §e hga hiEdl By EnNsiEkEme &t
Executive Directors HEs
Mr. Kwong Chi Man BEi4 - 1,222,000 190,000 24,054 - - 1,436,054
Mr. Yip Kong Lok (Chief Executive Officer) ~ E78£% 4 (f7H25) - 1144000 180,000 51,016 18,000 - 13801
Mr. Yip Wai Man (Note) EENREWE) - 556,400 70000 2,000 18,000 - 646,400
Independent non-executive Directors U FHTEZ
Ms. Yu Wan Wah, Amparo FBERT 126,000 - - - - - 126,000
Mr. Law Pui Cheung Bigi4 126,000 - - - - - 126,000
Mr. Wat Danny Hiu Yan RERE 126,000 - - - - - 126,000
378,000 2,922,400 440,000 77,010 36,000 - 3,853,470

Note: Mr. Yip Wai Man resigned on 27 July 2022.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, none of the directors RE
of the Company waived their emoluments nor agreed to waive ER
their emoluments for the year (2022: nil). H

Bt EEXAER-_TE-__4+tA
—+HHET-

—E_=F=A=+—HIF
NAESHMEMEXRENE
e (ZZ==F: &) o

z
A
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28 BENEFITS AND

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF THE
HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP.622) AND
COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP.622G)
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Directors’ retirement benefits and termination benefits
Save as disclosed in Note 28(a), the directors did not receive
any other retirement benefits or termination benefits during
the year (2022: nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services
During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group did not pay
consideration to any third parties for making available the
directors’ services (2022: nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of the directors, bodies corporate controlled by
and connected entities with such directors

As at 31 March 2023, there are no loans, quasi-loans and
other dealing arrangements in favour of the directors, bodies
corporate controlled by and controlled entities with such
directors (2022: nil).

Director’s material interests in transactions, arrangements
or contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 30(a), no significant transactions,
arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Group was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: nil).

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 &
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29 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 29 #EBR&E&REXRMEE

Year ended 31 March
HE=A=1t-HLEE

2023 2022
HK$ BT —E-=F —E-—
Cash flows from operating activites  &EEFEHMEREHRE
Profit before income tax B P15 54 Al 4 A 23,989,768 9,162,289
Adjustments for: ST L EEY
— Interest income — MEKA (323,605) (105)
~ Interest expense - MERAxX 511,711 296,442
— Depreciation of property, plant and - ¥ BERRENE
equipment 1,031,012 1,113,210
- Depreciation of right-of-use assets - FREEERE 1,734,200 1,490,319
— Impairment loss on trade and retention — FEWE FEER K EWRE S
receivables and contract assets IEkEHEERBERE 748,363 2,404,493
- Changes in cash surrender value of -~ RMREREHZHRENRE
investment in an insurance contract BREBZIL (34,018) 122,240
~ Write-off of inventories - MEFE 333,143 240,764
~ (Reversal of)/provision for inventory - REGE (BE) BE
obsolescence (159,627) 39,088
— Share of loss of an associate — RAEREARZEGEE
accounted for using equity method NEEE 1,023,763 187,994
— Net fair value gains on financial assets — AR FEFAEBRZ &R
at FVPL - unrealised BENATFERFE
—REH (169,487) -
- Gain from disposal of property, plant — LEME  BEREHEAR
and equipment and right-of-use FRAEEE 2 W=
assets (186,461) (10,000)
Operating profit before working capital BEECEFAILE R
changes 28,498,762 15,046,734
Changes in working capital: LEESEE
— Decrease/(increase) in inventories - BERL,/ (M) 10,907,991 (15,386,779)
— Increase in trade and retention — EWE SRR REYK
receivables RB LI (17,515,969) (5,272,329)
- Increase in prepayments and other — FE{TRRIB R H A B W RRIR
receivables #n (432,998) (770,512)
- Increase in contract assets — BHEEEMN (3,324,911) (2,756,408)
~ Increase in contract liabilities — AMAaBEEm 8,642,675 1,316,698
— (Decrease)fincrease in trade payables — R EZEZ CRd) /&N (240,889) 10,883,719
- (Decrease)fincrease in accruals and — B BERREMERNKIE
other payables CRA) /#m (292,957) 531,226
Net cash generated from operations KEMBERE 26,241,704 3,592,349
KWONG MAN KEE GROUPLIMITED BB X e S B B R 2 & |
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29 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 29 #“REBEeRE KM= (&)
(Continued)

This section sets out an analysis of net cash and the KEEF 25 FEERNFEESMNFE
movements in net cash for each of the years presented. LEEDHT o

As at 31 March

R=A=+—H
2023 2022
HK$ BT —E-= —ECCF
Cash and cash equivalents HeRREZEY 34,409,576 23,869,941
Bank borrowings RITEE (12,071,835) (15,090,311)
Lease liabilities HEAE (1,888,227) (845,435)
Net cash FHS 20,449,514 7,934,195

Other assets Liabilities from financing activities

HitEE RETDELCER
Cash
and cash Bank Lease
equivalents borrowings liabilities Total
Be Rk
HK$ BT ReEEN RITEE HEAR b
Net cash as at 31 March 2021 W-E--%#=f=+—H
2ERE 34,551,775 (9,410,482) (570,045) 24,571,248
Cash flows RenE (10,659,117) (5,679,829) 476,026 (15,862,920)
Acquisition - leases YE-HE - = (751,416) (751,416)
Foreign exchange adjustments IMEFRZ (22,717) = = (22,717)
Net cash as at 31 March 2022 R-E-_—_#=A=1-H
2858 23,869,941  (15,000,311) (845,435) 7,034,195
Cash flows BenE 10,492,096 3,018,476 692,096 14,202,668
Acquisition - leases KiE-Hg - - (1,734,888) (1,734,888)
Foreign exchange adjustments NE 47,539 - - 47,539
Net cash as at 31 March 2023 R_F-=%=fA=1+-H
2358 34,409576 (12,071,835  (1,888,227) 20,449,514
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30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 30 EBAIRS
The directors of the Company are of the view that the following ARABEZERBUTATEEAERER
individuals were related parties that had transactions or balances SRE G B

with the Group.

Related parties Relationship with the Group

B HAE BB HF

Mr. Kwong Chi Man (“Mr. Kwong”) Controlling shareholder and executive director of the Group

BEXEE(BEE]D AEEZERBRREHTES

Ms. Li Chuen Chun (“Mrs. Kwong”) Spouse of Mr. Kwong

2L (BK]) BB 5% A BV B 138

Ms. Kwong Wing Yan (“Ms. Kwong”) Daughter of Mr. Kwong

BikMmz L (ML) BEENLR

Carful Group Limited (“CGL”") Associate

ENEEARAR(TERER]) /N

(a) During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group (a) RBEZZT-_=FK=-T-_F=A4
had the following significant transactions with its related =+—RILFE AEEEEBEHT
parties: BUTHEARS :

Year ended 31 March
HE=A=1+-BL%E

2023 2022
HK$ BT —E-=F —T-—
Rental paid in relation to rental contract B TRF|EFEIVHHEAL 2
entered into with BENES
— Mr. Kwong (Note b) — B&E (H5tb) 240,000 240,000
— Mrs. Kwong (Note b) — BKX(#fatb) 40,800 34,000
- Mrs. Kwong and Ms. Kwong (Note b)  — BARE &+ (Ksb) 44,400 44,400
Service income from CGL (Note 21) REEREBENRBEWA
(Btet21) 96,000 =
As at 31 March 2023 the Group recognised lease liabilities (b) RZE-_=%F=FA=1+—HB £&&£E
to related party of approximately HK$488,000 (2022: HEENEEERERYER INAEE
HK$258,000) over the relevant property lease. B E4488,0008 L (ZE ==

258,000/87T) °
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31 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE 31
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

ARB2HBRRRRFRED

As at 31 March

R=A=+—H

Note 2023 2022
HK$ BT Bt & —E-=F —E-—
ASSETS &E
Non-current asset FRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary RBARZZE (a) 27,008,999 27,008,999
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments and other receivables A I8 [ H At & W IR 399,031 437,441
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE YR BT B A m) ZR 18 58,164,475 58,149,168
Current income tax recoverable Y BN ER P 1S R 6,136 -
Cash and cash equivalents HERREEEY 6,707,197 150,346

65,276,839 58,736,955

Total assets EERE 92,285,838 85,745,954
LIABILITIES &8
Current liabilities nBEE
Accruals and other payables FERT 2 A I H At < 5118 313,750 249,500
Amounts due to a subsidiary N EINGIE S = 4,500
Total liabilities BEHE 313,750 254,000
EQUITY i
Share capital fi% 6,000,000 6,000,000
Reserves G (b) 85,972,088 79,491,954
Total equity mawm 91972088 85491954
Total equity and liabilities EakE8EERE 92,285,838 85,745,954
The statement of financial position of the Company was approved ARG BRI ERAESeRN T -_=
by the Board of Directors on 23 June 2023 and was signed on its FRAZT=ZBHETHUTEERERE
behalf. £ o

Mr. Kwong Chi Man
Director

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 3R

Mr. Yip Kong Lok
Director
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KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED B X 32 & B & R

31 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE 31 ZARQRZHBMRARREEEE (&)
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
(a) Particulars of principal subsidiaries (a) FEMBLAFE
Place of
incorporation/ Issued and fully Principal activities and
Company name establishment paid up capital place of operation Interest held (%)
GRS ARAL/RItE  ERTRBRRE IERBREXNE PR 5 (%)
2023 2022
ZEIZE —_Z-CF
Directly held by the Company
KARAERR
Victor Ease Limited British Virgin Islands ~ US$10,000 Investment holding in Hong Kong 100 100
ARERAA RBRAEE 10,000% 7T RERUSREARR
Indirectly held by the Company
ARTEEER
Kwong Man Kee Engineering Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$100 Provision of engineering services 100 100
in flooring, screeding and
anti-skid surfacing in Hong Kong
BYRIRERAR &k 1007 RERRIMTAR HAlE
RERmETENIRES
Charter Ease International Limited British Virgin Islands ~ US$10,000 Investment holding in Macau 100 100
2REARERAA EBRAES 10,000% 7T REFUSRERR
Luxury Sense Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands ~ US$10,000 Investment holding in Macau 100 100
ZBRAER 10,000% 7T REFRERERR
Kwong Man Kee (Macau) Engineering ~ Macau MOP30,000 Provision of engineering services 100 100
Limited in flooring, screeding and
anti-skid surfacing in Macau
B3 (RR) IRARAA R 30,0008 7 REFREMTAR HaltE
RERmETENIRES
Sino Ocean International Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Trading of materials in Hong Kong 100 100
hEERARAT &k 10,0007 72 RERUSHHES
Prolific Harvest International Limited British Virgin Islands ~ US$10,000 Investment holding in Hong Kong 100 100
EHERERAA EBRNES 10,000% 7T RERUSRARR
Kwong Man Kee Investment Company ~ Hong Kong HK$10,000 Investment holding in Hong Kong 100 100
Limited
BXRREBRAA Bk 10,0007 7T REBRERERR
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE 31

MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

¥ Ow KR KM O

(Continued)

ARAHBRRARR EBED (4

=
&)

(a) Particulars of principal subsidiaries (Continued) (b) NDFMREER
Place of
incorporation/ Issued and fully Principal activities and
Company name establishment paid up capital place of operation Interest held (%)
NEER AMRL/RuLE  ERTRBRRE IZRBREXNY P R £ (%)
2023 2022
ZEZZE —F--F
Kwong Man Kee Specialist Engineering  Hong Kong HK$10,000 Provision of engineering services 100 100
Limited in flooring, screeding, anti-skid
surfacing and specialised texture
painting in Hong Kong
BXREXIRARAA i 10,0007 70 REBREDTAR HaltE
ARMARERQELRS
IREH
KMK (Asia) Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 Provision of engineering services 85 85
in waterproofing works in Hong
Kong
By (T ERAR &k 100,000 7 RERRGHKIRTEANHIR
R
Huge Talent International Investment Hong Kong HK$10,000 Investment holding in Hong Kong 100 100
Limited
ERERREERAR i 10,0007 7 RERUSRARR
KMK Krystaline Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia MYR100 Trading of materials in Malaysia 100 -
SRAE 105 RAELH RERBTUENHES
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31 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(b)

Reserve movement of the Company

= PaN
Fia 8 [=]

5t

B ow xR KM A

31 ARAZHBRARNHEEZED (B)

(b) &ARMEES

Share Capital Retained
premium reserve earnings Total
(Note)
HK$ BT IR EE B E RE&F wEt
(Kizt)
At1April2021, HK-B-—4MmA—Q -

31 March 2022 —E-__#F=ZA=+—H 52,482,955 27,008,999 - 79,491,954
Profit for the year FE &7 - - 6,480,134 6,480,134
At 31 March 2023 R=ZE-=F=A=+—H 52,482,955 27,008,999 6,480,134 85,972,088

Note:  Capital reserve of the Company represented the difference Wiz ARATMBARFERRAIKEN

between the net asset value of Victor Ease Limited acquired
over the nominal value of the share capital of the Company

issued in exchange thereof.

KWONG MAN KEE GROUP LIMITED & X

IfeBERARZEEFEEAR
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

f F B

Revenue

Profit before taxation

Profit attributable to
owners of the Company

Cash flows

Net cash generated from
operating activities

At year end
Total assets

Total liabilities

Total equity

Cash and bank balances

Per share data

Earnings per share
- basic (HK cents)

m oM E

W

BR B A1

ARAEEA
FE 1634 7

RERE

RETYMBERE

REL
BE®RE

RERE

=+
Wist
Bk
K
ESN
cRl

Re MRTTHER

SHRHUE
SREF

—EAR(E)
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2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-= —E-= —EBE-—f Z—ZE-TE ZEBE-REF
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT
170,605,077 110,416,026 118,873,665 95,024,421 117,922,836
23,989,768 9,162,289 18,197,196 7,618,310 11,500,142
19,116,886 7,463,648 15,567,820 6,212,831 9,979,511
24,199,162 148,112 17,566,361 2,277,982 16,902,055
174,298,372 149,801,514 129,921,621 119,177,048 117,817,729
55,624,678 47,985,078 29,519,379 34,183,549 34,756,249
118,673,694 101,816,436 100,402,242 84,993,499 83,061,480
34,409,576 23,869,941 34,551,775 19,612,765 23,627,331
3.19 1.24 2.59 1.04 1.66
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